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Message from the Board

A

s we report on the activities at Conexus Credit Union for 2010, it
will be remembered as a successful and busy year. Success can be
measured by our financial bottom line as well as our commitment to
our members and the communities we serve.
The Conexus Member Equity Program allows Conexus Credit Union to
share our financial success with our members. I’m very pleased to announce
a patronage allocation of $5.45 million. This amount reflects a four per cent
payment of qualifying interest paid and received on personal accounts and
two per cent for non-personal accounts.
Our success is not only dependent on our members’ support, but also
our employees. Their dedication to service and their commitment to the
communities bode well for Conexus as we look to the future. Our employees’
dedication to our communities is evident by more than 33,800 hours in
volunteer time that was logged in 2010. In addition, our financial commitment
to community-based, charitable and volunteer organizations of more
than $1,291,000 helped worthwhile community organizations and events
throughout Saskatchewan.
Also in 2010, the Conexus Credit Union Board of Directors agreed to pursue
the opportunity of a merger with Innovation and Synergy credit unions.
Although the resolution to merge did not gather enough support from all
three partners to go ahead, Conexus will continue to be a strong credit union
and it will be business as usual.
Saskatchewan is growing and prospering and Conexus is proud to support
that growth and enable it to flourish. With the loyalty of our members we will
continue to build Saskatchewan and be a leader and innovator in the financial
services industry. Thank you for your support and we look forward to serving
you for years to come.

Randy Grimsrud, Chair
On behalf of the
Board of Directors
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2010 was a
stepping stone
in positioning
Conexus for the
future.

Ian Rea, Chief Executive Officer,
Conexus

Message from the CEO

W

ith the leadership of the board and the support of
our members and employees, 2010 was a significant
stepping stone in positioning Conexus for the future.
As the largest credit union in Saskatchewan and the sixth
largest in Canada, we continue to strive to be the financial
service provider of choice by providing innovative products and
services, while also recognizing the commitment to our values
and co-operative principles.
In 2010, we restructured our wealth management operations
to ensure we have a team of experts in place who each come
with their own specialty. Experts are located throughout the
province who deal specifically with retirement saving, education
planning, business succession, estate planning and retirement
income.
We continue to enhance our Online Banking experience. In
2010, we began offering INTERAC® Email Money Transfers
and Mobile Web Banking. Mobile Banking for smart phones
enables members access to their accounts to perform everyday
transactions such as transfers and bill payments. This feature is
in addition to our Text Banking which helps our members access
account balance information and recent transactions through
their mobile phones.

Our employees are the backbone of the organization. That’s
why we are delighted to again receive the designation as one of
the 50 Best Employers in Canada. This is the sixth consecutive
year Conexus has been recognized. Our employees work hard
to ensure our members are treated with respect, integrity and
professionalism.
Supporting communities continues to be a priority at Conexus.
As an organization, we are available for financial support in
addition to volunteer support. Our employees pitch in and help
out - donating thousands of hours of their own time to a number
of worthwhile causes across the province.
As we look to the future, a new banking system is on the
horizon. Although our members won’t see a lot of change in how
they conduct their business, the new technology will impact our
employees who will be working many hours behind the scenes.
A new banking system will make us more efficient with the most
up-to-date technology.
Thank you for your continued support and trust in Conexus.
We look forward to the years ahead as we continue to build
Saskatchewan.
®

Trademark of INTERAC Inc. used under license.

Annual Report • 2010

3

About Conexus

Conexus Executive Team (left to right)
Darren Stoppler, Chief Operating Officer
Delia Ermel, Interim Executive Vice-President Human Resources
Ian Rea, Chief Executive Officer
Ken Shaw, Chief Financial Officer
Chad Boyko, Executive Vice-President Governance/Enterprise Risk Management
Sheryl Britton, Executive Vice-President Information Management
Jacques DeCorby, Interim Executive Vice-President Marketing & Communications
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Vision and Values
Mission
Meet the needs of Members!

Vision
Service
Excellence

Provincial Credit
Union

Increased Wallet
Share

Employer of
Choice

Brand
Recognition

Federally
Positioned

Financially
Stronger

Values
Honesty - Trust - Respect

Ethical Conduct - Accountability - Integrity

Empowerment - Inclusiveness - Professionalism

Operations
By honouring the Conexus values and incorporating them into how they perform their jobs, employees translate the
mission and vision into the day-to-day operations at Conexus.

Our Principles

Conexus is a co-operative organization
and as such subscribes to the Co-operative
Principles of:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Voluntary and open membership
Democratic member control
Member economic participation
Autonomy and independence
Education, training and information
Co-operation among co-operatives
Concern for community
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Our Company
Financial Offerings

Fitting your financial lifestyle with individualized service and a wide range of products is a commitment we take pride in at Conexus
Credit Union. Our credit union branches offer banking, trust and estate services. You’ll also find real estate services offered through
CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd., the added option of mortgage brokerage through CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. and
general insurance products available through Conexus Insurance Ltd.

Conexus Credit Union

With 46 branches at locations across the province, Conexus Credit Union employees are available to
help meet your financial needs. Conexus Credit Union is Canada’s sixth largest credit union, offering
personalized banking services for individuals and businesses. As well, our CU Dealer Finance Corp. is
available to offer onsite financing for vehicle and leisure craft purchases.

Banking Options

Life is about choices. With Conexus Credit Union, our members are able to access services
virtually anywhere around the world. The convenience of Online Banking is available 24 hours
a day at www.conexus.ca. In addition, we offer automated telephone banking through Voice
Response at 1-800-567-0101. If you need to talk to a friendly voice, our TeleService relationship
managers are available extended hours from Monday to Saturday by calling 1-800-667-7477.
They can assist with all your banking needs over the phone. Conexus Credit Union offers all of
these services in addition to access to an ATM network around the world.

Wealth Management

Managing your money is an important step to securing your financial future. Our wealth
management team offers expert financial advice to make your money work harder for you. In
2010, Conexus Credit Union developed processes to ensure our members have access to the
highest quality of wealth management products and services in the industry. Our experts can
help you with retirement saving, estate planning, education planning, business succession and
retirement income.

CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd.

With more than 200 agents across the province, CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. is the largest real
estate company in Saskatchewan. Whether you’re buying or selling a home, CENTURY 21 Conexus
Realty Ltd. agents will work with you to make the entire process worry free. CENTURY 21 Conexus
Realty Ltd. has been the #1 firm in Canada based on homes sold and volume for five years in a row.
CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. is more than a real estate company, it’s people who care about
their communities. In 2010, CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd. reached the milestone of raising one
million dollars for Easter Seals™ Saskatchewan making it the #2 franchise for Easter Seals fundraising
internationally.

CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd.

Mortgages are made easy with our experts from CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. A team of
mortgage brokers/associates at seven locations across the province are available to assist you in finding
the right mortgage to suit your needs. The team at CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. is committed
to find the best available financing.

Conexus Insurance Ltd.

From seven locations across the province, Conexus Insurance Ltd. has access to coverage that will meet
your needs. Whether you’re looking for home, vehicle, agriculture or commercial policies, Conexus
Insurance can help. In 2010, Conexus Insurance began offering SGI Online Services.
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Measuring Our Performance
Each year the Conexus Board of Directors and executive team develop a business strategy that is compiled into a formal document
called the corporate plan. Conexus puts the strategy into action using a balanced scorecard framework that establishes, measures
and monitors our progress toward achieving our goals. Our balanced scorecard is the working plan that is shared with employees
who all have a stake in delivering the strategy. This approach ensures that our business practices align with the strategy outlined in
the corporate plan. The balanced scorecard is characterized by four strategic perspectives: member, customer and community value;
internal and operational effectiveness; employee and employer of choice and financially strong.
In 2010, we made progress in all four areas. The following table gives an overview of this progress including the strategic objectives
outlined by the board and executive and performance measures gathered at the conclusion of the year.

Strategic Objectives

Member,
Customer
and
Community
Value

• Demonstrate value in membership by
being the service provider of choice
• Exhibit socially responsible leadership in
community development
• Maintain a positive corporate image

Internal and
Operational
Effectiveness

• Demonstrate strong corporate 		
governance
• Ensure efficient processes

Employee
and
Employer of
Choice

Financially
Strong

• Continue to be an employer of choice
• Foster a respectful, constructive,
diverse “Conexus” culture

• Prudently manage growth
• Achieve earnings equal to or better
than budget
• Build capital to support operations,
enterprise risks and growth

Performance Measures
Provider of choice survey results
Service satisfaction survey results

Actual

Target

83%

85%

84%

85%

33,807 hrs

32,000 hrs

89%

87%

Actual

Target

Efficiency ratio*

72.23%

76.25%

Productivity ratio

$8.31M

$8.15M

Actual

Target

6.48%

8.50%

Volunteer hrs/yr
Positive image survey results

Employee turnover
Average absenteeism

30.43 hrs

33.00 hrs

Development hours

33,570 hrs

30,000 hrs

Employee
engagement score

77%

75%

Actual

Target

$3.88 B

$3.84 B

Return on assets before
allocations

0.97%

0.86%

Risk weighted capital adequacy

10.88%

10.70%

Assets under
management

* Credit union only
2010 was another successful year in terms of the balanced scorecard performance measures. Areas where our performance was
particularly strong included: volunteer hours, positive image results, average absenteeism hours, training and development credit
hours, efficiency and productivity and employee engagement. We also achieved our financial targets for return on assets, assets under
management and risk weighted capital.
We came in slightly under target for being a provider of choice and service satisfaction. The actual performance measures fell short by
a very narrow margin of two per cent and one per cent, respectively, but remain above average. Analysis of the results of our research
program indicate that survey responses may have been impacted by external factors, including the poor economic outlook at the time
the survey was conducted.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Cory Noble, Abernethy, Member
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Corporate Social Responsibility
Conexus Credit Union has always contributed to the well-being of the communities that it serves above and beyond the financial
and economic role that financial institutions play. Around the world companies are putting increased emphasis on corporate social
responsibility (CSR) and the concept of a triple bottom line (TBL) that focuses not only on profit but also on people and the planet. This
prompted Conexus to take steps to formalize and document our historical and ongoing commitment to corporate social responsibility.
In 2009, a CSR vision was defined along with the establishment of six pillars that have and will continue to govern our commitment
to the sustainability of our communities. The six pillars include: Customer Experience; Standards of Business Conduct; Employer of
Choice; Community Investment; Value in Membership and Environmental Management. These six pillars and all related activities are
reflective of the co-operative principles and the values of Conexus Credit Union.

Our Vision for Corporate Social Responsibility:

Through our commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR), Conexus Credit Union will act with integrity to improve the
quality of life of our employees, members and the communities we serve. We will be competitive with our products and services,
striving to be the financial services provider of choice. We will take the steps necessary to have a positive impact on our communities
and the environment consistent with our corporate values.

CSR Pillar #1: Customer Experience

We strive to continually improve our members’ service experience and invest in initiatives to enhance service delivery. We welcome and listen
carefully to member feedback.

Build Brand

Build The Community. Build Your Future. Build Your Dreams. That’s what Conexus
Credit Union does every day. It’s who we are and what we do. Now it’s a part of our
brand.
The Conexus brand is highly recognized in the communities we serve. Our members
associate the brand with top quality products and services and exceptional employees.
The brand was first established in 2003 when Conexus Credit Union was formed. Nearly
seven years later, we felt it was time to enhance the brand and build a stronger, more
consistent image. After an interactive creative process that involved a review of customer research and feedback from employees, the
essence of Conexus was distilled down to a single word: Build.
So why Build? It reflects the Conexus promise to build communities in Saskatchewan. It encourages our employees to be proactive in
building members’ dreams. Finally, it inspires our members to do their part in building their communities.

Conexus Experience

At Conexus Credit Union, we want to be known for the Conexus Experience we provide based on our unwavering commitment to
service. For the past several years employees have been encouraged to provide our members with the kind of customer experience
that they like to experience themselves. As the concept evolved, it was decided to formalize the Conexus Experience and make it
uniquely ours. In 2009, one of the company’s key initiatives was to define the Conexus Experience and guided by the Conexus values,
the RESPECT acronym was chosen as the ideal for delivering the Conexus Experience. The following motto was created: “In providing
service excellence to my customers RESPECT is utmost in everything I do.” The RESPECT acronym reminds us to treat our members
with respect and expands on the experience we would like to create. Each letter represents a theme for providing service including:
reliable, efficient, sincere, professional, enthusiastic, caring and trustworthy. The RESPECT program was rolled out to Conexus
employees in 2010 in order to instill the concept and encourage employees to keep the Conexus Experience top of mind.

Product and Service Enhancements

We are always looking for ways to enhance our product offerings and service delivery so that we can better meet our members’ needs.
In 2010, some notable technology enhancements were introduced to enhance our members’ online security and provide mobile banking
for our members on the go.
•
•

Online Banking – Enhanced Security - Your security is important. When you log in to Online Banking you can have the peace of 		
mind that your information is secure. Conexus Credit Union offers an enhanced security feature with our increased authentication 		
process.
Mobile Banking - At Conexus Credit Union you can go mobile and access your financial information any time from your smart 		
phone or mobile phone. Mobile Web Banking allows you to access your account from your smart phone’s mobile browser. Access 		
account balances, transaction activity, pay bills or transfer funds. Our Text Banking feature gives you access to your account 		
balances and transaction history by using text messaging on your mobile phone.
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Member Research

We have been engaging member feedback through an independently
administered research program for the past 14 years. The first chart
below illustrates the high level of service satisfaction that Conexus
has been able to maintain for the last five years. The second chart
shows that a high number of respondents consider Conexus Credit
Union their service provider of choice.
Although the results for 2010 trended slightly downward, they are
still exceptionally high. Ratings in 2009 may be a direct relationship
to the media’s reporting of the soundness of Canadian financial
institutions in light of the global economic fall out from sub-prime
mortgage issues. This may account for respondents rating their
financial institution well, based on difficulties experienced by other
global institutions.

“I really like being part of the Conexus
Experience. I’m able to phone the credit
union any time, I know the person that’s
going to answer the phone and I know they
are going to do everything they can do to
help me and make my experience better.”
– Lorelei Smith, Member

“My experience has always been positive
at Conexus Credit Union. The people are
friendly, knowledgeable and I know they are
always looking out for my best interests.”
– Colleen Dembiczak, Member
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We understand that the needs and opinions of our members are
constantly evolving and changing and we review our research
program regularly to make adjustments to ensure that the
information we gather will help us be proactive in providing the
customer experience that our members deserve.

CSR Pillar #2: Standards of Business Conduct

We are a co-operative organization committed to doing business with honesty, integrity and in compliance with legal requirements.
At Conexus treating members fairly has long been a part of our co-operative culture and reflective of the way we do business. To
support our service commitment and maintain your confidence and trust, Conexus has established business conduct practices that
reflect industry standard consumer protection provisions. These practices apply to all products and services we offer.

Our Key Commitments to You

• Professional Standards - We are a co-operative organization that does business consistent with our corporate values. We will train
employees so they are qualified and capable of providing an exceptional service experience.
• Disclosure and Transparency - We will provide clear information about products and services to help you make informed financial
decisions.
• Privacy of Personal Information - We will treat all personal information as private and confidential, and operate secure and reliable
banking and payments systems.
• Fair Sales - We will act fairly and reasonably in all our dealings with you. We will not knowingly take advantage of anyone through
manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation of facts, unethical activity, or use of any other unfair
sales practice. We recognize the importance of access to basic banking services and will take reasonable measures to ensure access
to a low fee banking account.
• Complaint Handling - We welcome and listen carefully
to your feedback. We will try to satisfactorily resolve any
concerns or problems that may arise.

Positive Image

Our commitment to conducting business with honesty, integrity
and in compliance with legal requirements affects our image
and our research results show that the vast majority of members
believe we have a positive image.

CSR Pillar #3: Employer of Choice

We are committed to being an employer of choice with leading edge
talent management programs to attract and retain the best employees.
We value diversity in the workplace and invest in learning and
leadership initiatives to manage and develop our employees’ talents.

50 Best Employers in Canada

At Conexus, our ongoing success is based on the excellent work done by dedicated employees. Conexus is committed
to creating a better place for them to work and has an ongoing desire to offer strong talent management programs
focused on the development and well-being of our employees. In 2010, Conexus was named one of the 50 Best
Employers in Canada for the sixth consecutive year. The results are based on an annual employee survey and the
following chart shows the Conexus rankings for the past four years:

Our Progress as one of the 50 Best Employers in Canada
Year

Engagement Score

Best 50 Placement

2008 Results (surveyed June 2007)

71%

46th place

2009 Results (surveyed June 2008)

76%

30th place

2010 Results (surveyed June 2009)

82%

27th place

2011 Results (surveyed June 2010)

77%

38th place

The 50 Best Employer in Canada study has identified more than 22 engagement drivers, including managing performance, recognition,
career opportunities and human resource practices, to name a few. The annual survey gives us employee feedback based on these
drivers so that we can identify areas where we are strong and areas where we need to improve.
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“Conexus Credit Union really values their employees and they
really care about work-life balance. They make you feel like
you’re not a number.”
			
– Krista Heaps,
					Financial Services Supervisor

“I’ve always told people that if you
want to succeed with Conexus, don’t
let your title limit you. You’ll see your
career grow if you take advantage of
your opportunities, continue your
education and follow the guidance
of your supervisor or manager. These
things will lead you down the right
path.”
		 – Margaret Clark,
			 Human Resources Consultant

”My very first year I started in May and our baby came right around
Christmas which is usually a tough time to get holidays. I was given a
block of three weeks that I could take whenever the baby came. That
was really important to me.”
				
– Mike Ehr, Relationship Manager

“At Conexus we get Y-time and this is
basically six hours each month that
you can use in place of vacation for
anything that might come up in your
life.”
		 – Bobbi Russell,
			Relationship Manager

“Anyone who comes to the company from past jobs recognizes the
great benefits that Conexus Credit Union offers and realizes how
much the company cares for you as an employee.”
					
					
– Brad Fennig,
						 Vice-President Retail Services
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Total Rewards and Compensation Package

In return for our employees’ hard work and enterprising spirits, we provide them with a total rewards and compensation program. It’s
a full package covering the areas of work, culture, benefits, compensation and career mobility. We believe in work-life balance and offer
the incentives to prove it. Offering a competitive total rewards and compensation package is instrumental in supporting our employer
of choice strategy.

Learning and Development Program

Conexus encourages lifelong learning and believes formal and informal learning and development courses provide a means for
enhancing employee engagement. The learning and development program at Conexus Credit Union is designed to assist our
employees in accessing learning, educational and professional development
opportunities for current and future job opportunities at Conexus. The chart to
the right illustrates the total development hours that our employees engaged in
for the past four years. The hours dropped in 2010 due to a number of employees
working on the banking system conversion.

Employee Advisory Committee

In 2006, another employee feedback mechanism was introduced at Conexus in
the form of the Employee Advisory Committee (EAC). The EAC is a proactive
and innovative advisory body whose primary role is to research, gather feedback
and identify opportunities and solutions to improve the workplace experience
for employees at Conexus. This executive sponsored committee ensures that
recommendations align with and reflect the organization’s vision, mission and
core values. The EAC engages in practices that are effective, efficient and ethical
with the goal of making Conexus the best possible place to work.
In order to provide a broad range of knowledge, views and experience, the EAC
consists of members from a cross-section of business lines and departments representing Conexus employees, agents and brokers.
Some of the initiatives that the EAC has established and continues to support include:
•
•
•

•

The Reach for the Stars Program – The Reach for the Stars Rewards and Recognition Program was launched in 2006. The program
recognizes and rewards employees and sales professionals for performance consistent with Conexus values.
The Wellness Program – The Conexus Wellness Committee oversees the Wellness Program that encourages employees to 			
engage in a healthy and active lifestyle.
Corporate Charity – The Corporate Charity is a charity that is selected by the EAC on an annual basis. Funds are 			
raised through events of a corporate nature such as the annual client golf tournament, an annual employee hockey pool and branch
fundraisers. The Corporate Charity selected by the EAC for 2010 was the Alzheimer’s Society of Saskatchewan. In 2010, $17,570 		
was raised for this worthy cause.
Charity of Choice – To ensure local charities around the province benefit from corporate fundraising efforts, the EAC also 		
administers an initiative called the Charity of Choice. This initiative gives individual employees the opportunity to choose a local
charity to receive $25 on their behalf. The employees choose from a pre-selected list of charities located throughout the province.
This year the 36 charities received a total of $17,400.

CSR Pillar #4: Community Investment

We are committed to socially responsible leadership in community development and support organizations whose goals are aligned with our
community investment strategy and corporate values.

Conexus Community Investment Program

Conexus maintains a long-standing commitment to improving the well-being of our member communities. In 2010, this commitment
was expressed through the implementation of an improved Community Investment Program. Our program provides broad support to
our member communities with an aim to effect positive social, economic and environmental change.
The Conexus Community Investment Program focused on three key priority areas in 2010:
1. Youth Development – Learning and development opportunities for youth (up to 19 years of age) in the areas of healthy lifestyle, 		
education and leadership.
2. Community Revitalization – Initiatives to improve the viability and social well-being of our member communities.
3. Self-Reliance – Initiatives to reduce the economic vulnerability of individuals.
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In 2010, Conexus invested more than $1,291,000 in communitybased, charitable and volunteer organizations and scholarships.
Some of the organizations and communities that received support
include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Alzheimer Society of Saskatchewan
Bethune Hall
Big Sisters Go Girls Program
Citizen’s All Association
Craik and District Fire Board
Humboldt and District Health Foundation
Lanigan and District Youth Centre
La Ronge Children’s Festival
North Central Family Centre
Rocanville Senior Centre
Saskatchewan Abilities Council
Saskatchewan Deaf and Hard of Hearing
Saskatoon City Hospital Foundation
Saskatoon Zoo Foundation
Special Olympics Saskatchewan
Spring Valley and District Interpretive Centre
Universities of Regina and Saskatchewan
Whitewood Recreation Centre
YMCA
4-H Clubs across the province

Saskatchewan Winter Games Sponsor

Volunteering in the Community

If community investment funding is the fuel that helps Conexus
support and sustain communities then our employees, who
volunteer in their communities, are the heart and soul that give
meaning and substance to our community investment activities. In
2010, Conexus employees volunteered more than 33,800 hours of
their personal time to support community based initiatives. Over
the last five years they have contributed more than 179,900 volunteer
hours as illustrated in the chart to the right.

Charitable Donations

Conexus is also an active supporter of various charities around
the province. The following charities have benefitted through the
Employee Advisory Committee Corporate Charity:
2010 – Alzheimer’s Society of Saskatchewan - $17,570
2009 – Camp Easter Seals in Watrous – $14,000
2008 – Children’s Wish Foundation - $16,500
2007 – Children’s Health and Hospital Foundation – $11,700
The following totals were given through the
EAC Charity of Choice:

Lanigan and District Youth Centre Supporter

2010 – $17,400
2009 – $17,975
2008 – $ – program in transition
2007 – $9,125
2006 – $14,475

Humboldt and District Health Foundation Contributor
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Research

Our annual research program shows that our members are highly
aware of our community support as illustrated in the chart to the
right.
A benchmark of one per cent of pre-tax profits to community
investment is a guideline that many companies follow. At Conexus
Credit Union community investment is a high priority and the chart to
the right shows that we have a history of consistently and significantly
exceeding this guideline. In 2010, Conexus invested 4.82% of pre-tax
earnings to community investment. The historical data shows
fluctuations due partially to the variability of pre-tax profits from
year-to-year and because Conexus Credit Union considers community
investment opportunities on a request by request basis with some
years presenting more opportunity for investment than others.
Funding for community investment has ranged between four and six
per cent.

CSR Pillar #5: Value in Membership

We are committed to mutually successful financial relationships with our
members. We provide opportunities for member feedback, encouraging
participation in the democratic process.

Member Equity Program

Conexus has a long history of providing value to members. Our
member equity program is an example of that value. We are pleased
to be able to allocate a portion of our annual profits to those who do
business with Conexus Credit Union. Assiniboia Credit Union, one of
the founding credit unions in the creation of Conexus in 2003, made
its first patronage allocation in 1972. The Conexus Member Equity
Program as it is exists today was implemented in 2003, and since that
time $35.63 million dollars has been allocated to members. The 2010
allocation is $5.45 million dollars.

Democratic Process

At Conexus, members have a say. Our members are owners and
through the democratic process they are involved in making choices
for the future of our credit union including the selection of new board
members or weighing in on partnership opportunities.

CSR Pillar #6: Environmental Management
We are committed to environmental management practices to reduce, reuse,
and recycle.

Conexus developed a green plan late in 2009 and formed a task force
to begin implementation of the plan into 2010 and beyond. The initial
efforts of the Conexus Green Team are profiled as a success story by
Credit Union Central of Canada. The green initiatives slated in 2011
will show further commitment of Conexus doing its part to help
preserve the environment.

Patronage allocation display during Member Equity Week
Conexus Credit Union Plaza Branch, Regina
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Future Vision for Corporate Social Responsibility

When it comes to being a good corporate citizen, our research, as
indicated in the chart to the right, shows that Conexus Credit Union
is favourably viewed. We are pleased with the results and we are
committed to continuing to evolve our CSR program.
Conexus has recently identified several international standards for
CSR programs and reporting practices. As we learn more about these
standards we will improve and share information about our CSR
program.
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors 2010 (left to right)
Ed Gebert (Regina)
Randy Grimsrud - Chair (Regina)
Glenn Hepp - Vice-Chair (Humboldt/Saskatoon)
Norbert Fries (Moose Jaw/Assiniboia)
Laverne Goodsman (Fort Qu’Appelle/Moosomin)
Wayne Kabatoff (Prince Albert)
Loretta Elford (Regina)
Maurice Nekurak (Moose Jaw/Assiniboia)
Gerald Unger (Fort Qu’Appelle/Moosomin)
Don Blocka (Prince Albert)
Ted Knight (Regina)
Full director biographies are available on our website.
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Corporate Governance
Governing Legislation and Regulation

Conexus is established under legislation of the Province of Saskatchewan, and is regulated by The Credit Union Deposit Guarantee
Corporation of Saskatchewan (the Corporation). We must comply with The Credit Union Act, 1998; The Credit Union Regulations 1999;
The Standards of Sound Business Practice; credit union bylaws and policy; and other applicable provincial and federal laws. We provide
regular reporting to the Corporation and are subject to periodic risk-based examinations.

Approach to Credit Union Governance

The board is committed to high standards of corporate governance – for our own work and for oversight of Conexus Credit Union and
its subsidiary companies - as we believe this is fundamental for continued success and maintaining your confidence.
A governance framework is in place to ensure Conexus is managed and operated in a sound and prudent manner. This includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

A qualified and independent board with a mix of backgrounds and skills
A set of board governance principles for its own work
Clearly defined roles and a collaborative relationship with executive management
Establishment of strategy, performance measures and effective monitoring
Independent risk and control functions
Adequate disclosure of material corporate information to stakeholders

The Governance Committee is responsible for ensuring Conexus maintains high standards of credit union governance. The committee
monitors the regulatory environment and corporate governance trends, recommends changes as needed and monitors related
disclosure.
You can find details about our approach to credit union governance and related disclosures on our website at
www.conexus.ca/AboutUs/BoardofDirectors.

Business Conduct and Ethics

Ethical conduct is a core value at Conexus. It defines our service commitment to you. As a co-operative organization we believe in
doing business with honesty, integrity and in compliance with legal requirements. To support our service commitment, we have
voluntarily committed to a Market Code designed to maintain your confidence and trust in us. Our Market Code consists of business
conduct practices that reflect industry standard consumer protection provisions, and these practices apply to all products and services
we offer. Similarly, we expect our third party service providers to also maintain high standards of business conduct.
Ethical expectations of employees and guidelines for decision making are set out in our Code of Conduct. Annually, every director,
officer and employee of Conexus must sign an acknowledgement that they have read, understood and complied with our Code of
Conduct. To support our Code of Conduct, an external whistleblower reporting mechanism is in place. Through this mechanism
concerns of actual or suspected improper or unethical conduct can be reported without fear of reprisal or adverse employment action
for whistleblowing.

Board Composition

The board is comprised of 11 independent directors based on a regional governance structure. Terms are three years in duration and
tenure is limited to three consecutive terms. Collectively, the board is capable to fulfill its role and represents a variety of experience,
competence and knowledge.
In accordance with the bylaws, the Governance Committee is responsible for the nomination process and election of directors, and
directors are elected by members. Voting is by electronic ballot, with results announced at the Annual General Meeting.
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Board Responsibilities

The board is responsible for the stewardship of Conexus and overseeing the operation of the business and supervision of management.
The board acts in the best interests of Conexus in accordance with The Credit Union Act 1998, Standards of Sound Business Practice and
other applicable legislation.
In performing its role, the board approves all significant decisions that affect the credit union and its subsidiaries, and regularly meets
in camera without management present. The responsibilities of the board are fully described in its mandate and include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Manage its own affairs, such as setting the governance principles, establishing meeting processes and determining the mandate 		
and composition of board committees.
Review and approve an organizational structure that ensures an appropriate balance and separation between retail and risk 		
management control functions.
Select the chief executive officer, establish performance objectives and evaluate performance and determine compensation.
Review and approve the strategic plan, annual business plan and budgets.
Monitor business risks and management’s progress toward achievement of strategic objectives.
Review and approve the financial statements and regulatory filings, and oversee timely and accurate reporting to members and the 		
regulator on the credit union’s performance.
Consider the legitimate business interests of stakeholders and be accountable to the credit union and its members.

Board Committees

Board effectiveness is promoted by well appointed and structured committees. Committee memberships are reviewed annually and
take into consideration director skills and preferences. Each committee has a mandate outlining its purpose and responsibilities.
Outside advisors may be engaged at the expense of Conexus. Committees meet regularly throughout the year and provide meeting
minutes and reports to the board.
We have five standing committees to assist in fulfilling board responsibilities:
•
•
•
•
•

The Audit and Risk Committee is comprised of five directors and is responsible for overseeing risk management and financial 		
reporting integrity.
The Community Development Committee is comprised of three directors and is responsible for overseeing corporate social 		
responsibility and the community investment program.
The Conduct Review Committee is comprised of five directors and is responsible for overseeing conduct and ethical business 		
standards.
The Governance Committee is comprised of three directors and is responsible for overseeing governance and the nominations and 		
election of directors.
The Human Resource and Compensation Committee is comprised of three directors and is responsible for overseeing CEO 		
performance, compensation programs and succession planning.

Compensation and Attendance

The Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing director compensation and ensuring it is competitive and appropriate.
Director compensation includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

An annual retainer for board service
An annual retainer for serving as board chair, board vice-chair, or committee chair
A per diem for each board and committee meeting attended
A per diem for activities attended as a representative of the Conexus board
Travel costs, where applicable, to cover the time and mileage to attend meetings
Reasonable travel and other out-of-pocket expenses relating to board service

Directors are expected to attend all board meetings, and meetings of committees to which they have been appointed. A minimum
attendance rate of 66.6% is required, except where the Governance Committee determines that special circumstances prevented
meeting this threshold. In 2010, the proposed merger between Conexus, Innovation and Synergy credit unions called for an increased
number of board meetings. Additionally, the board chair and board vice-chair represented Conexus on the proposed merger steering
committee.
Conexus has a district governance structure which means directors are elected by geographic region. Given the varying locations of
residence, travel expenses among individual directors may vary significantly due to the location and frequency of meetings they are
accountable to attend.

Annual Report • 2010

19

The table below summarizes compensation and attendance for each director in 2010.

Board Service 2010
Compensation
Honorariams Per Diems
Travel/
($)
($) Other ($)

Director

Total
($)

Attendance
Board Committee
Meetings
Meetings

Randy Grimsrud (Board Chair)

16,167

18,525

6,279

40,971

14 of 14 (100%) 8 of 8

(100%)

Glenn Hepp (Board Vice-Chair) (1) (4)

(88%)

12,500

15,400

13,741

41,641

14 of 14 (100%) 7 of 8

(4) (5)

7,500

7,500

7,816

22,816

12 of 14

(86%) 5 of 5

(100%)

Ed Gebert (2)*(3)*

12,083

11,100

4,468

27,651

14 of 14 (100%) 9 of 9

(100%)

Gerald Unger (2) (3)

7,500

12,325

12,750

32,575

13 of 14

(93%) 7 of 9

(78%)

Laverne Goodsman (2) (3)

7,500

11,620

10,131

29,251

14 of 14 (100%) 7 of 9

(78%)

10,417

15,700

6,308

32,425

14 of 14 (100%) 8 of 8

(100%)

Maurice Nekurak (1) (5)*

11,667

11,400

11,458

34,525

14 of 14 (100%) 7 of 7

(100%)

Norbert Fries (4)*(5)

13,917

14,900

9,141

37,958

13 of 14

(93%) 5 of 5

(100%)

Sherry Knight***(4)

4,167

3,200

950

8,317

3 of 3

(100%) 1 of 1

(100%)

Ted Knight

5,000

5,700

1,350

12,050

(73%) 5 of 7

(71%)

Wayne Kabatoff (2) (3)

7,500

13,300

16,974

37,774

14 of 14 (100%) 8 of 9

(89%)

$ 115,918

$ 140,670

$ 101,366

$ 357,954

Don Blocka

Loretta Elford

(1)*(4)

** (2) (3)

Total
(1)

Governance Committee

*
**

(2)

Conduct Review Committee

(3)

Audit and Risk Committee

(4)

Human Resource and Compensation Committee

(5)

Community Development Committee

***

Chair of the Committee
Elected to the Board in April 2010
Term Expired in April 2010

Proposed Merger Committee
Compensation
Honorariams Per Diems
Travel/
($)
($) Other ($)

Director

Total
($)

Randy Grimsrud (Board Chair)

-

3,600

3,969

7,569

Glenn Hepp (Board Vice-Chair)

-

4,700

2,429

7,129

Total

-

$ 8,300

$ 6,398

$ 14,698

The above amounts were paid in addition to board service totals.
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Orientation and Continuing Education

We believe that director education is important to help directors understand our operations and developing issues affecting our
business, as well as to maintain and build skills. The Governance Committee offers an orientation program for new directors to
familiarize them with business operations and expectations of our board members. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuing education opportunities that include attending relevant conferences and taking professional development courses at the
company’s expense.

Board Assessments

The board is committed to effective credit union governance and continuous improvement. Annually, the Governance Committee
facilitates a board evaluation process to assess the effectiveness of board operations. Board members were asked this year to complete
a detailed questionnaire which provides for quantitative ratings and qualitative responses in key areas of board and committee
performance. Results of the evaluation formed the basis of recommendations to the board for improving governance practices and
opportunities for board development. The Governance Committee monitors progress against these plans.

CEO Performance Management

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee is responsible for developing performance objectives for the CEO, evaluating
performance and recommending the CEO’s compensation. Emphasis is placed on appropriate balance to incent achievement of
short-term objectives and long-term success. The board determines the form and amount of CEO compensation based on
recommendations from the committee.

Co-operative Industry Directorships held by Directors

%)

The Governance Committee encourages directors to sit on associate co-operative company boards:

%)

•
•
•

%)

Director Don Blocka serves as a director of Concentra Financial and SaskCentral.
Director Ed Gebert serves as a director of SaskCentral and Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.
Director Loretta Elford serves as a director of Concentra Financial, SaskCentral, and Credit Union Central of Canada.

Contacting the Board

Members and other interested parties may communicate with the board through our Governance Office by writing to:
Email: contacttheboard@conexus.ca
Mail:

Attention: Chad Boyko
EVP, Governance/ERM and Corporate Secretary
Conexus
1960 Albert St. (2nd floor)
Regina, SK S4P 2T4

For further information visit www.conexus.ca/BoardofDirectors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

T

his Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is presented to enable readers to assess material changes in the financial
condition and operating results of Conexus Credit Union (Conexus) for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared with prior
years, planned results and future strategies. This MD&A is prepared in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements
and related Notes for the year ended December 31, 2010 and should be read together. The MD&A includes information up to February
28, 2011. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars and have been primarily derived from Conexus’
annual Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Strategic Overview
Planning for the Future

Each year the board of directors and executive management review and set the strategic direction of Conexus. The following sets out
our strategic priorities for 2011, each of which is consistent with Conexus’ strategic objectives and vision.
Service Delivery Excellence - In order to become the service provider of choice we must ensure that our service delivery channels are
efficient, effective and meet the needs of our members and customers.
Card Products - One of the key product lines that we offer is our cards. Today’s consumers rely heavily on both debit and credit cards
and it is important that we offer the best options. Conexus will participate in the national and prairie initiatives to review credit and
debit card products and services.
Leader in Wealth Management - We have a vision to be a leader in the area of wealth management. Completing the implementation of the
wealth management plan created in 2010 will help make that vision a reality.
Effective Technology - Another piece of the long-term vision is to have best of breed technology. A large scale project is underway to
replace our banking system and associated technologies.
Understanding the Federal Credit Union Option - In March 2010, the federal government introduced Bill C-9, the Jobs and Economic
Growth Act, which proposes to amend the Bank Act to allow the establishment of federal credit unions. This will provide the option
for credit unions to be either federally or provincially regulated. Research is being done so that Conexus understands the pros and
cons of this new federal option, as well as the impacts on us if other credit unions choose to go federal.
Change Management - The success of achieving our vision requires organizational wide change and we will be creating a change
management plan. We will be focused on providing our people with training, tools and resources to effectively lead and manage
change.
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Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A may contain forward-looking statements concerning Conexus future strategies. These statements involve uncertainties in
relation to prevailing economic, legislative and regulatory conditions at the time of writing. Therefore, actual results may differ from
the forward-looking statements contained in this discussion.

Factors that may Affect Future Results
Although Conexus is focused in Saskatchewan, the economic and business conditions in Canada and abroad can impact the trading
areas of Conexus and its financial position. Global economic conditions can impact Canada and local economies, affecting businesses,
consumer prices and personal incomes. The prevailing conditions nationally can impact financial markets and the Bank of Canada’s
monetary policy, causing changes in interest rates and the value of the Canadian dollar. Fluctuations in the capital markets and the
extent of local competition can impact the market share and price of Conexus’ products and services. All these factors impact the
environmental conditions in which Conexus operates and, accordingly, affects performance.

Economic Conditions
2010 Economic and Financial Services Conditions

The global economy emerged from the recessionary periods in late 2008 and early 2009, to expand by 5% in 2010 (according to
International Monetary Fund). The strong growth in emerging economies have been leading the economic recovery. The robust
economic activity in China, in particular, has been a source of rising demand for nations’ exports, as well as support to overall
commodity prices. Growth in the Euro zone remained constrained and a source of risk to the global recovery given mounting concerns
of sovereign debt, a constrained banking sector, and lack of competitiveness.
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The U.S. economy grew by 2.8% in 2010 after experiencing a significant contraction in 2009. The U.S. economy experienced a strong
recovery to start 2010, buoyed by fiscal stimulus and government incentives. At mid-year there was uncertainty as to whether or not
an end to some stimulus measures would derail the recovery, but strong consumer consumption, led by a surge in spending on durable
goods, resulted in strong economic growth to end the year. A high level of vacant housing in the U.S. continues to restrain residential
investment. Resumption in business investment was led by investment in equipment and software as U.S. firms replaced aging
equipment and sought to improve productivity. U.S. exports also gained momentum in the later part of 2010 fueled by strong demand
from emerging economies, a weak dollar and improvements in productivity. Conditions in the U.S. labour market remain challenging,
with only one in seven of the jobs lost during the recession being recovered to the end of 2010.
The Canadian economy grew by an estimated 2.9% in 2010, re-emerging from recessionary periods experienced in 2009 (-2.5%),
and outpacing U.S. economic growth for a fourth consecutive year. Early in the year, fiscal and monetary stimulus took hold and
propelled economic expansion. In the second and third quarter, Canada’s continued economic recovery was thought to be in jeopardy
as U.S. demand slumped and European sovereign debt concerns shook financial markets. Consumer spending and strong business
investment helped move the economy forward in the second and third quarters, while net exports further deteriorated. Fourth quarter
performance bounced back from two quarters of sub-par economic growth. Despite the increasing value of the Canadian dollar, export
growth experienced a strong showing in the fourth quarter, as Canada’s largest trading partner – the U.S. increased its demand for
Canadian commodities.
The Saskatchewan economy is among the best in Canada. Saskatchewan is one of
only two provinces expecting a surplus without the benefit of special factors for the
fiscal year 2010-2011. The unemployment rate remained one of the best in Canada,
at 5.2%, compared to the national average of 8%. The province experienced
strong consumer spending, anchored by an increase in housing starts of six
thousand compared to 3.8 thousand in the prior year. Capital investment in the
province is expected to top record levels. Although commodity prices improved,
Saskatchewan’s net exports were impacted by a sluggish recovery mid-year in
the U.S. - hampering the province’s overall economic growth. However, a strong
domestic economy resulted in the provincial economy expanding an estimated
2.3% in 2010.
Notwithstanding the stresses of Europe’s sovereign debt concerns, most global
equity and bond markets exhibited strong performance in 2010, resulting from
solid corporate earnings and generally improving economic conditions. On signs
of improving economic conditions, the Bank of Canada began increasing its target
for the overnight lending rate at mid-year, and by September had raised interest rates three times from 0.25% to 1.00%. Given Canada’s
relative strength in the global market, its future prospects and a weak U.S. dollar, Canada’s currency continued to experience strength,
ending the year at parity with the U.S. dollar. Canada’s major exchange, the commodity rich TSX, experienced broad based gains in
2010, benefiting from Canada’s strong political and fiscal position in the world, strengthening demand and prices for commodities and
a healthy financial sector. The TSX gained 14% in 2010, ending the year at 13,443.

Economic and Financial Services Outlook

Looking ahead, the Canadian economy is expected to grow 2.4%, supported by higher prices and increased global demand for
commodities, a strong investment climate and low interest rates. Nonetheless, a recovering U.S. economy will continue to impact
Canadian exports and its overall economic growth in 2011. A hot commodity sector and improving economic trends have created
a very favourable fiscal and economic backdrop in Saskatchewan. Global demand for commodities is expected to continue, further
increasing prices and net export volume of commodity based products. The domestic economy will benefit from the strength in
the primary resource sector. Business investment is expected to continue, secured by several multi-billion dollar resource based
investments. Bright employment opportunities will continue to lure people to the province, fueling a continuation in the strength of
the housing sector. High consumer confidence among Saskatchewan residents, supported by strong employment prospects, will boost
retail sales in the province. Overall, Saskatchewan is poised for economic expansion and is forecasted to lead the country with GDP
growth of 3.9% in 2011.
Business credit demand should continue at levels experienced in 2010 in response to continued business investment in the province.
Growth in residential mortgage and consumer credit is expected to moderate relative to 2010 levels given leveling of housing starts,
increased lending rates and a pullback in consumer spending in exchange for rebuilding savings. The Bank of Canada is expected to
gradually start increasing interest rates starting in the summer of 2011. Consumers will continue to direct savings to mutual funds and
equities in search for higher yields and a renewed sense of safety given relative improvement to the stability in the equity markets.
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Financial Performance to Plan
Each year Conexus develops a corporate plan through a comprehensive budget and planning process. The following table provides an
overview of key financial measures compared to targets for 2010. Actual results for 2009 have also been included for comparison:

Financial management
($ in thousands)

2010 Actual

2010 Plan

2009 Actual

3,325,666

3,349,596

3,134,208

6.11%

5.88%

9.22%

3,011,327

3,021,899

2,852,749

5.56%

5.71%

9.53%

2,718,358

2,656,150

2,500,761

8.70%

6.83%

5.73%

Delinquency greater than 90 days

1.79%

1.50%

1.18%

Net impaired loans

16,566

401

19,480

Allowance for credit losses

21,915

14,196

20,463

Provision for credit losses

4,339

3,052

2,677

Liquid assets *

437,232

484,482

443,832

Loan to asset ratio

81.74%

79.30%

79.79%

Securities **

437,671

565,923

498,018

Securities growth

-12.12%

-0.83%

27.44%

217%

≥150%

208%

10.88%

10.41%

10.37%

7.63%

7.27%

7.32%

266,337

260,846

241,613

Net income

22,467

17,233

13,904

Return on assets (ROA) before patronage
and income tax

0.97%

0.82%

0.69%

Efficiency ratio - consolidated

80.09%

85.01%

87.15%

Efficiency ratio - credit union only

72.23%

76.91%

79.86%

5,450

6,910

5,639

Growth
Assets
Asset growth
Deposits
Deposit growth
Loans
Loan growth
Credit quality

Liquidity management

Operating liquidity ratio
Capital management
Risk-weighted capital
Tier 1 capital ratio
Total capital ***
Profitability and member return

Patronage allocations

* Liquid assets include cash, overnight deposits, marketable securities, SaskCentral statutory liquidity investments and Concentra Financial liquid investments.
** Securities include all investments held by Conexus.
*** Total capital of Conexus consists of amounts held in member equity accounts as per the patronage program ($22.50 million in 2010); membership shares required for
membership ($567.44 thousand in 2010); and retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income ($243.27 million in 2010). This differs from the definition of
total capital used by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation which amounts to $253,766 (2009 - $229,473).
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Financial Position Review
The financial position review provides an analysis of our major balance sheet categories, and a review of our loans, deposits, capital
and liquidity positions. The review is based on the Consolidated Financial Statements and credit union only results where appropriate.
Consolidated Financial Statements include the operational results of the credit union as well as the following subsidiaries: real estate,
insurance, mortgage brokerage and holding companies.

Overview

Conexus exhibited strong growth in 2010. Total funds under management ended 2010 at $4.43 billion up from $4.10 billion in 2009 and
achieving total growth of 8.00%. ‘On-balance sheet’ assets ended 2010 at $3.33 billion compared to $3.13 billion in 2009, representing
growth of 6.11%. Other funds under management, or ‘off-balance sheet’ assets under administration, include: $548.91 million in wealth
management, up from $487.21 million in 2009 or an increase of 12.66%; and $555.21 million in securitized and syndicated loans an
increase of 15.62% over 2009 levels of $480.20 million.

The primary driver of Conexus’ ‘on-balance sheet’ growth is deposits, as nearly all of its assets are funded by member deposits. Asset
growth, in particular member loan growth, that cannot be funded on-balance sheet through member deposits are either funded
through loan syndication or securitization. These funding alternatives enable Conexus to continue to meet member loan demand while
maintaining prudent liquidity levels.
At the height of the financial crisis in 2007 and 2008, Conexus experienced an influx of deposits as members moved money from
other institutions, avoided the volatility of the equity markets, and increased their savings rates given an uncertain economic and
employment outlook. By the summer of 2009, deposit growth slowed and deposit levels remained fairly constant for the remainder
of 2009. In 2010, deposit growth declined further than the prior two years. The slower deposit growth is viewed as a combination of
increased consumer spending given the pent up demand for goods and services experienced in 2008 and 2009, lower agriculture cash
flows given the poor growing season, and consumers re-entering the equity markets given an extended period of steady improvements.
Over the same period, loan growth slowed in 2009 as the cost of credit increased, as well, both business and individuals slowed their
borrowings given concerns of uncertain economic conditions and employment prospects, respectively. In 2010, with historically
low interest rates, and a renewed level of optimism within the province of Saskatchewan, loan demand amongst consumers, and in
particular businesses, increased.
Loan growth outpaced deposit growth in 2010. In addition to both actively syndicating and securitizing loans in 2010, Conexus’ overall
asset allocation moderately shifted – loans as a percentage of total assets increased from 79.97% in 2009 to 81.74% in 2010.
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The following illustrates Conexus’ deposit and loan growth over the last five years.

Deposits

Deposits ended 2010 at $3.01 billion compared to $2.85 billion in 2009, representing growth of 5.56%. Conexus’ deposits consist of
deposits from both personal and commercial members.

Personal deposits accounted for 66.93% of total deposits in 2010 (2009 - 67.78%), and commercial deposits accounted for 30.24% of total
deposits (2009 - 30.15%).
Conexus’ deposits are 100% guaranteed by the regulator of credit unions in Saskatchewan, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee
Corporation (CUDGC).

Loans

Accounting for 81.74% of total assets, loans amounted to $2.72 billion as at December 31, 2010, for an increase of $0.22 billion or 8.70%
over prior year’s balance of $2.50 billion.
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A significant portion of Conexus’ loan portfolio continues to be comprised of stable, low risk, consumer mortgages (32.98% of the total
loan portfolio). Loan allocation to the commercial sector declined slightly from the prior year; 40.17% in 2010 compared to 40.67% in
2009. Loan allocation to the agriculture sector remained similar to the prior year at 10.81%.
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Credit quality
Past due loans

A loan is considered past due when a counterparty is contractually in arrears but where payment in full is expected. Delinquency
greater than 90 days was 1.79% for 2010, an increase from 1.18% in the prior year. Delinquencies were higher relative to 2009 in both
the commercial and consumer loan categories. Past due consumer loans increased from $12.9 million in 2009 to $20.2 million in 2010.
Delinquent consumer loans were largely past due by one to 30 days ($15.8 million).

Net impaired loans

Net impaired loans are loans considered by management to be uncollectible and are net of specific loan allowances. It is the amount
expected to be realized on the sale of any security on the uncollectible loans. In 2010, net impaired loans showed a decrease from the
prior year of $2.9 million to end the year at $16.6 million. A substantial portion of the impaired loans balance relates to a single account.
Net impaired loans as a percentage of total loans has decreased from the prior year of 0.78% to end 2010 at 0.61%. It is expected that
net impaired loans as a percentage of total loans will continue to trend downwards as both the economy recovers and the security for a
large impaired loan account is sold.
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Allowance for credit losses

Conexus monitors its exposure to potential credit losses and maintains both specific and general loan allowances accordingly. Specific
allowances are based on management’s estimate of the net realizable value (NRV) of impaired loans. This NRV includes any estimated
future cash flows from loan payments as well as proceeds from the sale of any security. Total specific allowances increased from $16.10
million in 2009 to $17.28 million at the end of 2010.
General allowances provide for probable losses that exist in the portfolio that have not been specifically identified as impaired. General
allowances are calculated using management’s judgment, historical loan loss data and economic conditions. Total general allowances
increased from $4.36 million in 2009 to $4.64 million in 2010.

Provision for credit losses

Once the allowance for credit losses and write-offs have been assessed, a provision for credit losses is charged to the Consolidated
Statement of Income. Provisions for credit losses (general and specific loan provisions) were $4.34 million in 2010, having a negative
impact to net income. The loan loss provisions as a percentage of loans increased from 0.11% in 2009 to 0.16% in 2010.
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Liquidity management

One of Conexus’ primary objectives as a financial institution is to prudently manage liquidity to ensure that Conexus is able to generate
or obtain sufficient cash or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable price, to meet commitments as they become due, even
under stressed conditions. Conexus’ liquidity management framework, targets and strategies are established and documented in a
Liquidity Management Plan.
The principles of Conexus’ liquidity management framework are: maintaining a strategy and policies for managing liquidity risk;
maintaining a stock of liquid assets; measuring and monitoring funding requirements; managing market access to funding sources;
contingency planning; and ensuring internal controls over liquidity risk management processes.
Conexus has an established policy with respect to liquidity, and has a number of processes and practices with respect to the
management of funding requirements. Specifically, Conexus measures and monitors its available liquidity and performs monthly
stress scenario modeling to identify sources of potential liquidity strain. Conexus has built and maintains access to numerous funding
sources. Conexus’ primary source of funds is consumer deposits in the amount of $2.04 billion in 2010 (2009 - $1.95 billion), which
represents 66.93% of total deposits in 2010 (2009 – 67.78%). This is followed by commercial deposits in the amount of $923.29 million in
2010 (2009 - $869.06 million) at 30.24% (2009 – 30.15%).
In addition to core deposits, Conexus maintains external borrowing facilities from various sources. Conexus has an authorized line
of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $75 million in Canadian funds and an authorized line of credit with Concentra Financial
Services Association (Concentra) in the amount of $7 million in U.S. funds. In 2010, Conexus rarely used external borrowing facilities
with $1 million outstanding at the end of the year (2009 - $nil).
The next source of liquidity for Conexus is the securitization of assets for the purpose of generating funds on the capital markets.
Conexus’ securitization activities include participation in the Canada Mortgage Bond (CMB) program and a revolving dealer finance
loan pool. Loans are also syndicated with numerous credit unions for liquidity purposes. In 2010, Conexus securitized an additional
$50.28 million of loans (2009 - $84.41 million) and syndicated an additional $82.50 million of loans (2009 - $63.38 million) as part of its
ongoing liquidity management strategy.
Conexus also maintains a cushion of high quality, liquid assets to be drawn upon to meet unforeseen funding requirements. Utilizing
these various funding sources achieves liquidity diversification.

Liquid assets

Liquid assets include cash, overnight deposits, marketable securities, SaskCentral statutory liquidity investments and Concentra
Financial Services Association (Concentra) liquid investments. The value of liquid assets decreased slightly from $443.83 million
(14.16% of assets) in 2009 to $437.23 million (13.15% of assets) as at December 31, 2010.
Saskatchewan credit unions are required by the provincial regulator, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), to
maintain 10% of their liabilities on deposit with SaskCentral as manager of the Provincial Liquidity Program. Throughout 2010,
Conexus held the required amount of investments with SaskCentral for the purpose of maintaining its obligation to the Provincial
Liquidity Program. In addition to the statutory liquidity investments on deposit with SaskCentral, Conexus maintains a high quality,
liquid pool of securities to satisfy payment obligations and protect against unforeseen liquidity events. The majority of Conexus
marketable securities are held with Concentra, Canadian (Schedule 1) Chartered Banks and provincial governments.
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Operating liquidity

Conexus’ liquidity is measured by the operating liquidity ratio. This ratio is calculated as available liquidity and cash inflows divided
by cash outflows. Available liquidity is defined as securities which are immediately available as cash, securities marketable in an active
secondary market, redeemable securities held with Concentra and committed credit facilities. In 2009, the ratio was 208.00%, and in
2010 it was 217.00% which are both well above the target of 150.00%.

Capital management

Total capital as a percentage of risk weighted assets and total capital as a percentage of total assets (capital adequacy) is one of our
primary measures of financial strength. Conexus’ capital management framework is designed to maintain an optimal level of capital.
Accordingly, capital policies are designed to ensure that: Conexus meets its regulatory capital requirements; meets its internal
assessment of required capital; and builds long-term membership value. Conexus retains a portion of its annual earnings in order to
meet these capital objectives. Once these capital objectives are met, additional earnings are allocated to members through Conexus’
member equity program. The member equity program allocates earnings to members’ equity accounts (in the form of membership
shares) based on usage of services. Member equity accounts are included in the determination of capital adequacy for internal and
regulatory purposes.
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), the regulator of Saskatchewan credit unions, has prescribed capital adequacy
measures and minimum capital requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by CUDGC have been based on the Basel II capital
standards framework established by the Bank for International Settlements and adopted by financial institutions around the globe,
including Canadian banks.
CUDGC prescribes three tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions: risk-weighted capital ratio (eligible capital to riskweighted assets); tier 1 capital to total asset ratio and tier 2 to tier 1 capital ratio. Tier 1 capital is defined as a credit union’s primary
capital and comprises the highest quality of capital elements. Tier 1 capital for Conexus includes retained earnings, membership
shares, and member equity accounts, less various deductions with the largest one being for securitization transactions. The riskweighted capital ratio is calculated as the sum of net tier 1 and 2 capital divided by risk-weighted assets. The tier 1 capital ratio is
defined as tier 1 capital divided by total assets. Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain a minimum risk-weighted
capital ratio of 8.00%, a minimum tier 1 capital to total assets of 5.00% and tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital of less than 100.00%. In October
2009, CUDGC issued an advisory indicating that a well capitalized credit union should have risk-weighted capital of 10% and a
tier 1 capital to total assets ratio of 7% to meet operational requirements, support growth projections, absorb unexpected losses and
signal financial strength to stakeholders. Credit unions with declining capital below the 10% will be subject to increased regulatory
monitoring by CUDGC.
In November 2010, CUDGC issued a new regulatory guideline respecting capital. The guideline requires credit unions to implement
an internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP). The requirements are based on the international standards set out in Pillar 2
of Basel II. ICAAP is an integrated process that evaluates capital adequacy, and is used to establish capital targets and capital strategies
that take into consideration the strategic direction and risk appetite of a credit union. Beginning in 2012, CUDGC’s regular supervisory
review process will look for evidence that credit unions have begun to incorporate principles of ICAAP in their governance, planning
and capital management processes. Conexus will begin the development of ICAAP in 2011.
Achieving minimum regulatory capital levels are paramount to Conexus. Minimum board level standards are set well in excess of
regulatory minimums. This standard setting is the first line of defence to ensure capital levels exceed regulatory minimums even in
times of significant loss or unplanned growth. Capital planning is integral to Conexus’ business planning. Conexus’ business plan
must demonstrate its ability to meet board level capital standards. In addition to meeting board level standards for capital adequacy,
management (as part of the Asset Liability Committee) sets operating objectives for capital levels. Conexus manages capital to these
operating objectives. Balance sheet operating strategies are designed to ensure these capital levels are achieved in addition to achieving
other strategies, such as growth and profitability targets.
Conexus experienced capital growth in 2010, adding to its sound financial position. In 2010 the capital of Conexus increased by $24.73
million from $241.61 million in 2009 to $266.34 million. Total capital of Conexus consists of: amounts held in member equity accounts
as per the member equity program program ($22.50 million in 2010); membership shares required for membership ($567.44 thousand in
2010); and retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) ($243.27 million in 2010). The following illustrates
the capital composition of Conexus. As the chart illustrates, retained earnings remains the key source of capital for Conexus.
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Regulatory Capital

For the year ending 2010, Conexus’ regulatory capital as a percentage of risk weighted assets was 10.88% (2009 - 10.37%), above the
regulatory minimum of 8% and in excess of the 10% prescribed by the regulator as a level to be considered well capitalized.
The tier 1 capital to total assets ratio increased in 2010 to 7.63% from 7.32% in 2009, above the 5% regulatory minimum and the 7%
regulatory standard for being regarded as well capitalized.

2006 and 2007 above ratios are based on the previous Basel I calculation method

Capital adequacy levels have experienced moderate increases over 2009 levels, and over recent historical levels - as illustrated in the
preceding figure. Capital adequacy levels have come under pressure in recent years, most notably in 2009, as interest margin fell in
the wake of the financial crisis, while loan growth continued to exceed expectations. The growth in capital adequacy levels in 2010
is a function of both an overall improvement in earnings and a decrease in commercial loans as a percentage of total loans. Capital
accumulation and overall capital adequacy levels, are expected to see continual improvements as Conexus’ earnings improve and both
risk and growth are balanced.
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Financial Performance Review
The financial performance review provides an analysis of our consolidated financial performance and member return.

Profitability

Net income for the year was $22.47 million, an increase from $13.90 million in the prior year. For 2010, our total annualized return on
assets (ROA) before patronage and income tax was 0.97% compared to 0.69% in 2009.
After experiencing a decline in 2009, net income improved to near pre-recessionary levels in 2010. Although the recession is officially
over, the current interest rate environment stemming from the financial crisis continues to impact the earnings performance of Conexus.
The low net income experienced in 2009 was largely a result of a dramatic drop in the Conexus’ prime lending rate leading up to 2009.
Between the period of June 2007 and April 2009 the prime rate fell 4 percentage points. Net interest margin improved over prior year as
the prime lending rate began its ascent and term deposits matured and re-priced at lower rates. At the same time, Conexus continued
its cost control measures – limiting the increase in non-interest expenses. Net earnings are forecasted to increase in 2011 and 2012 as net
interest margins improve given an anticipated and more favourable interest rate environment, and continued growth in overall assets.

Net income is comprised of the following items:
• Net interest margin - is total interest revenue less total interest expenses and patronage allocation while factoring in any provisions
for credit and investment impairment. Net interest margin, after provision for credit losses, increased $16.13 million between
December 31, 2010 and 2009. Expressed as a percentage of total assets, net interest margin was 2.58% for 2010 compared to 2.22%
in 2009. Net interest margin improved over 2009 as both yields on loans and investments increased. Term deposits matured and
re-priced at lower interest rates decreasing the cost of Conexus’ interest expenses.
• Non-interest revenue - includes insurance and realty commission income, unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities and
derivatives, securitization income, annual loan fees and account service fees. Consolidated non-interest income decreased to $66.49
million in 2010 from $73.57 million in 2009. Credit union only non-interest income also decreased to $38.89 million in 2010 from
$41.49 million in 2009, 1.33% of assets in 2009, and 1.17% of assets in 2010. Non-interest revenue declines, albeit minor, were most
notably due to lower securitization revenues, unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities, and lower insurance and realty
commission income.
• Non-interest expense - includes various operating costs such as general business, occupancy, organizational, personnel and security.
Consolidated non-interest expense decreased in dollar value and decreased as a percentage of assets from 4.05% of assets or $127.08
million in 2009 to 3.77% of assets or $125.36 million in 2010. Credit union only non-interest expense increased in dollar value from
$93.65 million in 2009 to $97.15 million in 2010 but decreased as a percentage of assets from 2.99% of assets in 2009 to 2.92% of assets
in 2010.

Efficiency

The efficiency ratio measures the percentage of income earned that is spent on the operation of the business. A low efficiency ratio
indicates efficient use of resources. The ratio is calculated as non-interest expenses divided by the sum of the following: net interest
margin plus non-interest revenue and provision for credit losses.
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The decline in efficiency to 87.15% (79.86% credit union only) in 2009 occurred as a result of lower interest margin (in comparison to
prior years) experienced by Conexus in the wake of the recessionary periods. Consequently, the same non-interest expenses had to
be supported by a much lower interest margin. In 2010, efficiency improved to 80.09% (72.23% credit union only) as both net interest
margin improved over 2009 levels and non-interest expenses were contained to 2009 levels. Further improvements to efficiency are
forecasted as net interest margin improves.

Patronage allocations

The board of directors of Conexus declared a patronage allocation equal to 4.00% of personal members’ qualifying interest earned and
interest paid in 2010 (2009 - 4.00%) to be credited to members’ equity and deposit accounts. The board of directors of Conexus also
declared a patronage allocation equal to 2.00% of non personal members’ qualifying interest earned and interest paid in 2010 (2009 2.00%) to be credited to members’ equity or deposit accounts. In 2010, Conexus returned $5.45 million of earnings to members through
the Member Equity Program (2009 - $5.64 million). Members, in accordance with the terms of the Member Equity Program, received
$2.45 million in the form of cash distributions, and $3.00 million in the form of membership shares (held in their equity accounts).

In addition to patronage allocations, Conexus contributes a significant amount to Saskatchewan communities each year. For 2010, $1.29
million ($1.51 million in 2009) was returned to communities around the province in the form of contributions to various community
projects. This amount is included in non-interest expenses under the general business category.

Future Accounting Policy Changes
Conversion to International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board announced that Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Conexus is specifically scoped into the definition of a publicly accountable enterprise. Conexus
will apply IFRS commencing January 1, 2011 and will, therefore, present consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS for
the year ending December 31, 2011 with comparative numbers also in accordance with IFRS for the fiscal year 2010.
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Management of the Transition Process

To prepare for the transition to IFRS, Conexus established a formalized project structure in 2008. Conexus established an IFRS team
that reports to the Audit and Risk Committee of the board of directors on a regular basis. The IFRS team has developed a detailed
workflow plan for all IFRS areas of transition to ensure that each phase of the transition project is completed on schedule and to ensure
a smooth implementation. Conexus will monitor ongoing changes to IFRS through the IFRS transition process. Conexus participates in
the National IFRS Readiness Project for credit unions sponsored by Credit Union Central of Canada. To date, the project is proceeding
according to plan, and the IFRS transition is becoming operational. Conexus’ IFRS transition process consists of three phases:
Planning phase
This phase involved setting out the timetable for transition and identifying differences in key accounting policies between Canadian
GAAP and IFRS. It also involved an assessment of complex areas and a basic stocktaking of resources available to implement the
process. The planning phase was substantially completed by June 30, 2009.
Diagnosis phase
The diagnosis phase involved a more detailed analysis of IFRS impacts on Conexus. Decisions were made as to exemptions and
options provided under IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS. Impairment testing was performed on opening balance sheet carrying
values of assets at January 1, 2010. Detailed position papers were prepared for key differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS with
assistance from the National IFRS Project mentioned above. The diagnosis phase was substantially completed by December 31, 2010.
Conversion phase
During the first part of this phase, changes required to accounting and reporting systems were finalized and tested. All transition
adjustments were calculated and recorded resulting in an opening balance sheet on transition as at January 1, 2010. Training has
been undertaken to ensure that all stakeholders understand the IFRS financial statements of Conexus. The first part of this phase was
completed by February 28, 2011.
The second part of this phase will involve gathering information for the significant increase in disclosures required under IFRS. All
disclosures will require comparative numbers for 2010. This phase is proceeding according to plan and is expected to be completed by
December 31, 2011.

Main Differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS

The following key areas of difference have been identified between current Canadian GAAP and the treatment under IFRS:
Provision for credit losses
Conexus’ current practices regarding the specific loan allowance will meet the criteria for impaired loans under IFRS; however, a key
difference is that accrued interest on impaired loans will be recorded in interest income under IFRS, with an offsetting increase in the
allowance.
Conexus’ current methodology for calculating the general allowance will not be allowed under IFRS. A new collective or non-specific
allowance will be determined using a different methodology. This methodology utilizes delinquency greater than 90 days as a loan loss
trigger event. Historical write-offs and delinquencies greater than 90 days are also utilized in the determination of the collective loan
allowance.
Securitization and syndications
All of Conexus’ securitization transactions will not achieve off-balance treatment under IFRS. This is due to the fact that these
transactions either do not meet the derecognition criteria under IFRS, or instead meet the criteria for consolidation under IFRS.
Conexus’ syndication transactions will achieve off-balance sheet treatment under IFRS.
Premises and equipment
IFRS requires more componentization of premises and equipment. Conexus’ current practices regarding premises will require the
addition of more categories, resulting in an acceleration of amortization expense compared to current practice.
Conexus has obtained residual value appraisals on its significant properties. These appraisals did not result in any restatement of prior
amortization expenses.
Impairment of assets
IFRS has stringent requirements for assessment of impairment of assets. A detailed checklist for each type of asset has been developed
and will be used annually to assess impairment of each type of asset. An impairment assessment was completed on the date of
transition to IFRS with no impairments identified.
Taxation
A ‘balance sheet’ approach to tax effect accounting is followed under IFRS. This approach recognizes deferred tax balances when
there is a difference between the carrying value of an asset or liability and its tax base. It is expected that some changes in the levels of
deferred tax assets and liabilities under IFRS will occur.
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Regulatory guidance
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC) has released guidance indicating that regulatory capital rules will follow IFRS
with the exception of certain grandfathering of securitization transactions. CUDGC also disallowed any increase in capital as a result of
any opening adjustments for fair values of premises and equipment.
IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
Conexus’ adoption of IFRS will require the application of IFRS 1 which provides guidance for an entity’s initial adoption of IFRS. IFRS
1 generally requires that an entity apply all IFRS effective at the end of its first IFRS reporting period retrospectively. There are certain
mandatory exceptions and optional exemptions to this rule. Conexus has assessed the potential impact of these exemptions and does
not expect any significant transition adjustments as a result of its selected options.

Enterprise Risk Management
As a financial institution, Conexus is exposed to a variety of risks. An enterprise-wide risk management (ERM) approach is used for
the identification, measurement and monitoring of risks. Conexus has implemented an ERM framework and actively manages all of its
risks.

Risk Governance

Risk governance includes setting the risk appetite and policy, determining an appropriate organizational structure and clearly defining
authority and responsibility for risk decisions. Following are the groups and committees with authority and responsibility for risk
decisions within Conexus.
Board of Directors:
• Approve risk policies and overall risk appetite, and oversees execution of our ERM program by management
• Monitor overall risk profile, key and emerging risks and risk management activities
• Review and assess the impact of business strategies, opportunities and initiatives on overall risk position
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Board:
• Monitor major risks and recommends acceptable risk levels to the board
• Review the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk management and compliance practices
• Provide oversight of external and internal audit functions
Specialized Internal Audit, Compliance and ERM departments:
• These specialized departments each have a direct channel to report to the Audit and Risk Committee
• Co-ordinate the completion and documentation of board and operating policy and procedures
• Co-ordinate the strategic and operational planning process
• Oversee the insurance risk management program
• Monitor compliance with policy and procedure and the adequacy of controls
• Provide independent and objective assurance of control and soundness of operations to management and the Audit and Risk
Committee of the board
• Oversee enterprise-wide management of risk and compliance throughout the organization
Executive Management
• Implement strategies and policies approved by the board
• Develop processes that identify, measure, monitor and control risks
Credit Management Department
• Establish credit policies and oversees credit risk management
• Monitor credit risk profile, and risk exposures
• Monitor compliance with credit risk policies
• Approve high risk individual credits
Asset Liability Committee (ALCO)
• Establish market and liquidity risk policies and oversee related programs and practices
• Monitor overall market and liquidity risk profile, key and emerging risk exposures and risk management activities
• Monitor compliance with market and liquidity risk policies
• Establish balance sheet operational strategies with a focus on achieving financial targets, managing marketing and liquidity risk,
and optimizing the use of capital
Pricing Committee
• Establish pricing policies and tools
• Monitor pricing decisions to ensure compliance to policy
Corporate Finance
• Establish capital management policies and oversee related strategies and practices
• Monitor capital position
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Risk identification, measurement and assessment

The ERM framework sets out how risks will be identified, assessed and documented. At ERM workshops the top risks that could
impact Conexus over the next year are identified and rated and mitigation plans are made. These risks are rated on the potential
impact that they could have and the likelihood that they might occur.
Risks are rated to determine which are the highest priority. Some have a tolerable risk level and are managed through normal
procedures. The ones with a slightly higher risk level are watched closely. There are also risks that need to be strongly managed so
we give them special attention and the board is regularly updated on them. If any risks had an intolerable risk level, an immediate
emergency response would be required.

Risk monitoring and reporting

Current ERM reporting requirements are specified in board policy. Quarterly reports are provided to the Audit and Risk Committee.
These reports provide updates on each of the significant risk categories and identify any concerns. In addition, an annual ERM report
is provided to the full board. This report includes risk details such as a listing of key risks, a risk map, and a list of priorities as well
as an evaluation by the vice-president enterprise risk management and planning. An independent evaluation is also completed by
internal audit, external audit, and occasionally the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.

Risk control and mitigation

Management implements policies and procedures to carry out risk responses and mitigation. Controls are used to manage risks. The
Conexus ERM framework establishes that risk owners are generally responsible for controls. The ERM department reports on the
adequacy of controls and the internal audit department tests, controls and reports on whether they are functioning as intended.
The executive team takes the key risks into consideration when creating the corporate plan and balanced scorecard. Key initiatives
have been put in place to manage risk priorities.

Significant Risk Areas

In addition to tracking, individual key risks analysis is done on six categories of risk that are significant to Conexus. Within each of
these categories are various individual risks.

A. Strategic Risk

Strategic risk is the risk that adverse business decisions, ineffective or inappropriate business plans or failure to respond to changes in
the competitive environment, customer preferences, product obsolescence or resource allocation will impact our ability to meet our
objectives. This risk is a function of the compatibility of an organization’s strategic goals, the business strategies developed to achieve
these goals, the resources deployed against these goals and the quality of implementation.
Key Strategic Risks
Strategic risk is inherent in providing products and services to consumers. The board direction and how it is translated into day-to-day
activities must be compatible with what the consumer wants. Products and services must be competitive and profitable and resources
must be used appropriately in order for Conexus to be successful.
One of the key risks identified by management is the possibility of a lack of market research and informed strategy (what is important
to our customers) resulting in missed opportunities and loss of market and potential market to competitors. A further key risk in this
category is if the strategy is not clear and does not effectively guide the allocation of resources. This could result in inefficient use of
resources and failure to achieve objectives. Another key risk would be a lack of responsive partners and suppliers resulting in impacts
to member service and Conexus’ reputation.
Strategic Risk Management
Conexus has annual strategic planning sessions for the board and executive management. Strategic objectives, performance measures
and key initiatives are identified and form part of the balanced scorecard which is communicated to all staff and used to measure
organizational performance. Strategies are regularly reviewed and adapted as necessary due to the changing financial environment.
Management is responsible to execute business plans and quarterly progress reports track performance.
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B. Market Risk

Market risk is the exposure to potential loss from changes in market prices or rates. Losses can occur when values of assets and
liabilities or revenues are adversely affected by changes in market conditions, such as interest rate or foreign exchange movements. At
Conexus, market risk primarily arises from movements in interest rates, and is caused specifically from timing differences in the repricing of assets and liabilities, both on and off balance sheet.
Key Market Risks
Examples of specific risks in this category are; price risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and derivatives risk. The key risk that
has been identified in this area is that market changes could impact financial strength. Conexus is asset sensitive which means that its
assets (primarily loans) re-price sooner than its liabilities (member deposits). As a result, we experience an increase in income when
interest rates rise and a decrease when they fall.
Market Risk Management
Effective management of market risk includes documented policies which address roles and responsibilities, delegation of authority
and limits, risk measurement and reporting, valuation and back testing, hedging policies and exception management. Some elements of
market risk management have been discussed in other parts of this report. Market risk exposure limits have been set in Conexus policy
and methods of scenario and stress testing are carried out to determine if the limits are exceeded. The corporate finance department is
responsible for reporting on and monitoring market risk, with oversight by the Asset Liability Committee. Corporate finance monitors
market risk exposure by measuring the impact of interest rates on the financial position and earnings through a number of models
and tests given various interest rate scenarios. Results are compared to policy and reported monthly to Asset Liability Committee, and
quarterly to the board. Interest rate risk management includes the use of derivatives to exchange floating rate and fixed rate cash flows.

C. Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet obligations, such as liability maturities, deposit withdrawals, or funding loans without
incurring unacceptable losses. Liquidity risk includes the inability to manage unplanned decreases or changes in funding sources.
Key Liquidity Risks
Liquidity risk falls into three categories: Mismatch – the risk that the demand for repayment of deposit obligations will outstrip
the capacity to raise new liabilities or liquefy assets. Contingent – the risk of not having sufficient funds to meet future sudden and
unexpected short‐term obligations. Market – the inability to sell assets at or near fair market value. The key risk identified in this area is
if liquidity restraints impact member service, financial strength and reputation.
Liquidity Risk Management
Conexus uses a variety of sources to fund operating requirements, such as: member deposits, cash and securities, lines of credit and
corporate borrowings, sale of assets through securitization and syndication and provincial and national statutory liquidity programs.
Some of these sources of funds are immediate and some require more long-term planning.
The elements of liquidity risk management are similar to the other risk categories already discussed. Effective management of liquidity
involves policies, limits, reporting and proactive management. Liquidity policies and limits are well documented at Conexus. The
liquidity risk management plan is updated annually and presented to the board. Corporate finance measures and monitors available
liquidity daily, weekly and forward over a three-month time horizon. The Asset Liability Committee receives monthly reports on the
liquidity position and sets operating targets. The board also receives regular reports on liquidity. Conexus has access to various funding
sources including deposits, external borrowing facilities, securitization of assets, the Canadian Mortgage Bond program and the sale
and syndication of loans through various credit unions. A stock of liquid assets is available at all times to meet liquidity requirements.

D. Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a borrower or counterparty’s inability to meet its obligations. At Conexus, credit risk comes
primarily from our direct lending activities and to a lesser extent, our holdings of investment securities.
Key Credit Risks
Examples of individual risks identified in this category are; default risk, portfolio concentration risk, inadequate allowance risk, and
policy exceptions risk. The key risk identified by management is that asset impairments could impact financial strength.
Credit Risk Management
Credit risk management focuses on underwriting and pricing loans according to their risk and ensuring the overall portfolio is well
diversified. There are five parts to credit risk management including policy, credit granting, monitoring and exposure, portfolio
management and audit.
Tolerances and lending practices are set by board and operating policy and procedure. Review and revision of lending policy and
procedures is done on an ongoing basis with regular reviews and updates.
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Credit granting includes analysis, pricing, terms and documentation of lending. Loan pricing tools are in place to support lenders in
pricing decisions and to ensure risk is being offset by rates. Consistent lending documentation is used by all Conexus branches.
Reports based on North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) codes are used to monitor exposure by industry.
The Asset Liability Committee looks at liquidity and capital risk as well as financial results. This group sets operating targets for loan
growth and mix and implements strategies to achieve these targets. They use a variety of appropriate strategies ranging from special
pricing on specific loans to syndication or securitization. We continue to securitize both auto loans and residential mortgages. Board
policy sets limits on securitization.
The internal audit department carries out credit review as part of their regular, ongoing audit plan.

E. Legal & Regulatory Risk

Legal and regulatory risk is the risk arising from potential violations of, or nonconformance with laws, rules, regulations, prescribed
practices, or ethical standards.
Key Legal & Regulatory Risks
As a financial institution, Conexus operates in a heavily regulated environment. In addition, each of the industries that our subsidiary
companies operate in have their own specific regulatory requirements. As a business operating within Saskatchewan, we are also
subject to all provincial and federal legislation applicable to our operations, such as labour and anti-money laundering laws. The key
risk in this category is that compliance failures impact operational effectiveness, member service and Conexus’ reputation.
Legal & Regulatory Risk Management
Governance, policy and procedures and awareness aid Conexus in complying with laws and regulations, and therefore, are effective
ways to manage legal and regulatory risk. Conexus has an established compliance department that provides an oversight role to ensure
that operational areas are aware of applicable laws and regulations. The compliance department is also responsible to co-ordinate
reporting to the Audit and Risk Committee of the board on compliance.
There are specific departments that are responsible for creating and updating operating policy and procedures. These departments are
responsible to make sure that policy and procedures take into consideration all applicable legal and regulatory parameters.
All specialized departments are knowledgeable in the regulations that pertain to their areas. In some cases third party expertise is used
through contracted services. For example, Concentra Financial is our resource for trust and estate services and is the administrator
of our registered products. The governance and ERM division also provides support to Conexus in legal and regulatory matters and
external legal advice is sought when necessary.

F. Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or external events.
Exposures to this risk arise from deficiencies in internal controls, technology failures, human error, employee integrity or natural
disasters.
Key Operational Risks
At Conexus, operational risk exists in all products and services and our delivery of them, including supporting back office processes
and systems. We categorize our operating risk into three main areas; people, systems and processes. People refers to our human
resources area and includes risks such as the ability to attract and retain appropriate talent. Systems addresses technology and our
reliance on it, encompassing such risks as a security breach or failure of a critical system for an extended period. Processes are the way
we do things and include risks such as inadequate policy or procedures.
The key risks identified in this category are: inefficient systems and processes impact cost effectiveness, customer service and employee
satisfaction; insufficient management information system impacts decision making; problems with banking system implementation
impact customer service, staff and resources; the talent management strategy is ineffective in managing our human resources to ensure
a highly motivated, engaged workforce.
Operational Risk Management
It is often difficult to quantify and track this kind of risk, but, as with all other categories, the use of policy and procedures and controls
and monitoring are the most effective ways to manage operational risk.
Conexus has very detailed online procedures available for most processes related to product and service delivery and retail operations.
Updates and additions are co‐ordinated through the risk management department. Work is being done to document administrative
processes and adding them to other online procedures.
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Operational risk relating to people is managed by having documented procedures and by strong talent management practices such as
employee training and performance management. Changes have been made to improve the performance development program and all
employees received training on the changes.
Risk related to systems is managed through effective and secure technology solutions. The information technology (IT) department is
made up of skilled and qualified employees. A business continuity program is in place. Conexus has comprehensive insurance coverage
in place for property, liability and financial operations risks.
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CONEXUS CREDIT UNION

Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2010

Candace Bergen (Relationship Manager), Lanigan and
Cameron Gilbey (Staff Investment Specialist), Regina
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of
Conexus Credit Union were prepared by management, which
is responsible for the integrity and fairness of the information
presented, including the many accounts that must of necessity
be based on estimates and judgments. These Consolidated
Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with the
financial reporting requirements prescribed by The Credit
Union Act, 1998 of the Province of Saskatchewan, Credit Union
Deposit Guarantee Corporation, and by statute. The accounting
policies followed in the preparation of these financial statements
conform to Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). Financial and operating data elsewhere in the annual
report are consistent with the information contained in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
In discharging our responsibility for the integrity and fairness
of the Consolidated Financial Statements and for the accounting
systems from which they are derived, we maintain the necessary
system of internal controls designed to ensure that transactions
are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are
maintained. These controls include quality standards in hiring
and training of employees, policy and procedure manuals, a
corporate code of conduct and accountability for performance
within appropriate and well-defined areas of responsibility.
The system of internal controls is further supported by a
compliance function, which is designed to ensure that we and
our employees comply with the appropriate legislation and
conflict of interest rules, and by an internal audit staff, which
conducts periodic audits of all aspects of our operations.

Ian Rea
Chief Executive Officer
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The board of directors oversees management’s responsibilities
for financial reporting through an Audit and Risk Committee,
which is composed entirely of independent directors. This
committee reviews our Consolidated Financial Statements
and recommends them to the board for approval. Other key
responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Committee include
reviewing our existing internal control procedures and planned
revisions to those procedures and advising the directors on
auditing matters and financial reporting issues. Our chief
internal auditor has full and unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee.
Further monitoring of financial performance and reporting is
carried out by the Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation.
It is given its responsibilities and powers by provincial statute
through the Credit Union Act. Its purpose is to guarantee
members’ funds on deposit with Saskatchewan credit unions
and provide preventative services. Preventative services
include ongoing financial monitoring, regular reporting and
consultation.
Deloitte & Touche, LLP Chartered Accountants appointed by the
members of Conexus Credit Union upon the recommendation
of the Audit and Risk Committee and board, have performed
an independent audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and their report follows. The auditors have full and unrestricted
access to the Audit and Risk Committee to discuss their related
findings.

Ken Shaw
Chief Financial Officer

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of
Conexus Credit Union 2006
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of Conexus Credit Union 2006 and its subsidiaries,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at December 31, 2010 and the consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, members’ equity and cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Conexus
Credit Union 2006 and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2010,
and their financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Regina, Saskatchewan
February 28, 2011

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
($ in thousands)
As at December 31, 2010

2010

2009

Assets
Cash

92,365

67,324

437,671

498,018

2,718,358

2,500,761

Other assets (Note 7)

20,899

20,773

Intangible assets (Note 8)

15,346

10,326

Premises and equipment (Note 9)

41,027

37,006

3,325,666

3,134,208

3,011,327

2,852,749

Loans payable (Note 11)

1,007

–

Other liabilities (Note 12)

46,995

39,846

Membership shares and member equity accounts (Note 13)

23,070

21,547

3,082,399

2,914,142

241,622

219,155

1,645

911

243,267

220,066

3,325,666

3,134,208

Securities (Note 3)
Loans (Note 4 and Note 5)

Liabilities
Deposits (Note 10)

Members’ equity
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Commitments and contingencies (Note 24)
See Accompanying Notes

APPROVED BY THE BOARD:
							
Randy Grimsrud, Director		
Ed Gebert, Director
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Consolidated Statement of Income
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2010

2009

128,536

118,050

12,209

12,295

140,745

130,345

45,168

52,349

94

112

5,450

5,639

50,712

58,100

90,033

72,245

4,339

2,677

Net interest income after provision for credit losses

85,694

69,568

Non-interest income (Note 14)

66,490

73,572

51,769

52,661

Occupancy

8,131

8,297

Organizational

2,399

2,487

60,241

61,049

Interest income
Loans
Securities

Interest expense
Deposits
Loans payable
Patronage allocation (Note 13)
Net interest before provision for credit losses
Provision for credit losses (Note 4)

Non-interest expense
General business

Personnel
Security

Income before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes (Note 16)
Net income

2,818

2,590

125,358

127,084

26,826

16,056

4,359

2,152

22,467

13,904

See Accompanying Notes
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

Net income

2010

2009

22,467

13,904

735

954

(1)

(43)

734

911

23,201

14,815

Other comprehensive income, net of tax (Note 3)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale securities
Reclassification of gains (losses) on available for sale securities to income
Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive income
See Accompanying Notes

Consolidated Statement of Members’ Equity
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

Retained earnings – beginning of year
Net income
Retained earnings – end of year

Accumulated other comprehensive income – beginning of year
Other comprehensive income
Accumulated other comprehensive income – end of year
See Accompanying Notes
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2010

2009

219,155

205,251

22,467

13,904

241,622

219,155

911

–

734

911

1,645

911

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2010

2009

22,467

13,904

Amortization of premises and equipment

3,874

3,720

Amortization of intangible assets

2,075

1,639

77

116

4,339

2,677

595

(854)

(102)

7

(7,753)

(8,909)

797

1,086

(7,325)

378

1,650

(1,876)

Derivative – related assets

331

559

Derivative – related liabilities

520

1,792

Other assets

(899)

5,519

Other liabilities

4,489

291

Changes in other non-cash operating items

(256)

1,202

24,879

21,251

162,955

250,149

Increase (decrease) in loans payable, net of repayments

1,007

(2,501)

Membership shares allocated on basis of patronage

3,004

3,012

(1,479)

(1,269)

165,487

249,391

(345,529)

(644,631)

405,735

536,871

(260,438)

(213,486)

Proceeds from loan securitizations

49,974

84,351

Purchase of premises and equipment

(7,972)

(4,019)

Purchase of intangible assets

(7,095)

(6,412)

(165,325)

(247,326)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year

25,041

23,316

Cash resources - beginning of year

67,324

44,008

Cash resources - end of year

92,365

67,324

49,639

54,377

1,541

3,583

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to determine net cash provided by (used in) operating
activites:

Loss on disposal of premises and equipment
Provision for credit losses
Loss (gain) on securities
Security (income) loss from equity method investment
Gain on loan securitizations
Future income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accrued interest receivable and payable
Current income taxes receivable and payable

Cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities:
Increase in deposits, net of withdrawals

Membership shares redeemed
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities:
Purchase of securities
Proceeds from sales of securities
Increase in loans, net of loan securitizations

Cash flows used in investing activities

Supplemental information:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
See Accompanying Notes
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

1. INCORPORATION AND GOVERNING LEGISLATION
Conexus Credit Union 2006 (the Credit Union), was established and continued pursuant to The Credit Union Act, 1998
of the Province of Saskatchewan. The Credit Union serves members and non-members in the Province of Saskatchewan
with the head office located in Regina.
In accordance with The Credit Union Act, 1998, Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (CUDGC), a provincial
corporation, guarantees the repayment of all deposits held in Saskatchewan credit unions, including accrued interest.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable governing legislation
for each entity, which conform in all material respects to Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses during the reporting period. Certain estimates,
including allowance for credit losses, fair value of financial instruments, income taxes and accounting for securitization
require management to make subjective and complex judgments. Accordingly, actual results may differ from those
estimates.
The significant accounting policies adopted by the Credit Union include:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements contain the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of subsidiaries after
eliminating inter-company transactions and balances. Securities, in which the Credit Union does not control, but
exercises significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method. Under this method, the Credit Union records
its initial investment at cost and then records its equity share of any net income or loss. Dividends received are recorded
as a reduction of the investment, which is included in securities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Included in the consolidated financial statements are the following entities:

Subsidiaries

The Credit Union has 100% interest in CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd., CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd.,
Conexus Insurance Ltd. and Protexus Holdings Corp.

Significant influence investments

The Credit Union has a 40% ownership in CU Dealer Finance Corp and a 33.33% ownership in Apex General
Partnership.

Significant accounting changes

The Credit Union did not adopt any new significant accounting policies or standards during the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Classification and measurement of financial instruments

The accounting standards for financial instruments require that all financial assets and liabilities be classified according
to their characteristics, management intentions or the choice of category in certain circumstances. Financial assets can
be classified as held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale or as loans and receivables. Financial liabilities must
be classified as other or held for trading. Upon initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair
value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. In subsequent periods, financial assets and liabilities held
for trading are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in non-interest income. Financial assets held to
maturity, loans and receivables, and financial liabilities, other than those held for trading, are measured at amortized
cost. Available for sale instruments are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized in other
comprehensive income.
Although the standard allows any financial instrument to be irrevocably designated as held for trading, CUDGC, the
Credit Union’s regulator, has issued guidelines limiting the circumstances under which this option may be used. The
Credit Union may use this option providing that: management of these financial instruments is in accordance with a
documented risk management strategy; and if the fair values are reliable.
The Credit Union classifies fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet using a three-tier fair value
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:
		

•
•
		
•
		

Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: Valuations based on inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; or
Level 3: Valuations based on unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the
Credit Union to develop its own assumptions.

Fair value measurements are classified in the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. This assessment requires judgment, considering factors specific to an asset or a liability and may
affect placement within the fair value hierarchy.

Cash

Cash consists of cash and cash equivalents maturing in one business day. Cash is classified as held for trading. Due to its
short-term nature, the recorded amount of cash and cash equivalents is considered to be the fair value.

Securities

Securities held for trading purposes are classified as held for trading (HFT) and recorded at fair value.
Securities held to maturity are financial assets the Credit Union has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. These
securities are classified as held to maturity (HTM) and are measured at amortized cost, unless there is a permanent
decline in value, in which case they would be measured at net realizable value.

Securities that are not classified as held for trading, or held to maturity, are classified as available for sale (AFS) and
measured at fair value. The Credit Union reviews AFS securities for impairment and when declines in fair value
are deemed to be other than temporary they would be measured at net realizable value. If the security is an equity
instrument with no quoted market price, or if fair value cannot reliably be determined, the security is recorded at cost.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Loans

Loans the Credit Union has no intention to sell immediately or in the near future are classified as loans and receivables, and are
recorded initially at fair value. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost, less any allowances for credit losses plus
accrued interest. Loans the Credit Union, on origination, has the intention to sell immediately or in the near future are classified as
held for trading (HFT) and recorded at fair value.
Loans are classified as impaired and the accrual of interest is discontinued when, in management’s judgment, there is no longer
reasonable assurance that the principal and interest will be collected in full. The allowance for impaired loans is increased by the
provision for credit losses, which is charged to income and reduced by write-offs, net of recoveries.
The allowance is comprised of two components-specific allowances and general allowances, calculated as follows:
(i)

(ii)

The Credit Union records specific allowances based on management’s regular review of individual loans. 		
The estimated realizable amount represents management’s best estimate of the value of future payments it will
receive on each loan, discounted at the loan’s effective contractual interest rate. When management cannot reasonably
determine the loan’s future cash flows, it bases its estimates on the current market value of the loan’s security net of
expected selling costs.
The Credit Union records general allowances for certain groups of loans with similar characteristics, which are
exposed to common impairment factors. A general allowance is determined based upon management’s judgment
considering business and economic conditions, portfolio composition, historical credit performance and other relevant
indicators. The change in the net realizable value of these assets is recorded as a charge or credit to the provision for
credit losses.

Foreclosed assets held for resale are initially recorded at the lower of the investment recorded in the impaired loan and its
estimated net realizable value. Foreclosed assets held for resale are subsequently recorded at the lower of carrying value or fair
value. Foreclosed assets are considered to be assets held in the course of realization of impaired loans.

Asset securitization

The Credit Union securitizes groups of assets by selling them to an independent special purpose or qualifying special purpose
entity or trust. Such transactions create liquidity for the Credit Union and release capital for future needs. Securitization
transactions are recognized as a sale and the assets are removed from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the
Credit Union has surrendered control over the assets and has received, in exchange, consideration other than beneficial interests
in the transferred assets. For the surrender of control to occur, the transferred loans must be isolated from the Credit Union, the
Credit Union does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets and the purchaser must have a legal right to sell or
pledge the transferred loans.
The Credit Union generally retains an interest in the securitized assets such as servicing rights and various forms of recourse
including over-collateralization, rights to excess spread and cash reserve accounts. Retained interests in securitized assets
are classified as available for sale (AFS) and held as securities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Gains
and losses on retained interests are recognized in non-interest income on the date of the transaction. The amount of the gain
or loss recognized depends on the previous carrying value of the receivables involved in the transfer, allocated between the
assets sold and retained interests based on their relative fair values at the date of the transfer. As market quotes are usually not
available, gains and losses are recorded at fair value as determined by estimating the present value of future expected cash flows
using estimates of key assumptions on yield, credit losses, prepayment rates, discount rates, and cost of funds. Any estimate
adjustments to the key assumptions will result in changes to the fair value of gains and losses. Changes in fair value of gains and
losses deemed to be temporary are recorded in other comprehensive income and those deemed to be other than temporary are
recorded in non-interest income.
All loans securitized by the Credit Union have been on a fully serviced basis and a servicing liability is recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in other liabilities at fair value and is amortized to securitization income over the
term of the transferred assets.

Wealth Management Services

*

The Credit Union offers members access to a wide variety of investments through Credential Asset Management Inc., Credential
Securities Inc., Credential Direct® and Credential Financial Strategies Inc. Assets under administration are recorded separately
from the Credit Union’s assets and are not included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As at December 31, 2010,
funds managed totalled $548,907 (2009 - $487,213).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets

The Credit Union has intangible assets consisting of franchise fees and customer lists obtained from the purchase of subsidiaries,
and software. Franchise fees, customer lists and software are reported at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related intangible asset as follows:
		
Franchise fees							
10 to 20 years
			Customer lists 							10 to 20 years
			
Software								
3 years
Intangible assets are tested annually for impairment when conditions exist which indicate impairment.

Premises and equipment

Land is reported at cost. Buildings, computer equipment, furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements are reported at
cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
related asset as follows:
			
			
			
			

Buildings							
Computer equipment						
Furniture and equipment						
Leasehold improvements						

40 years
4 to 5 years
3 to 5 years
5 to 10 years

Gains and losses on the disposal of premises and equipment are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income in the year of
disposal.

Income taxes

The Credit Union accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, the provision for income
taxes is calculated based on income tax laws and rates enacted and substantively enacted as at the balance sheet date. The income
tax provision is comprised of current income taxes and future income taxes. Current income taxes are amounts expected to be
payable or recoverable as a result of current year operations. Future income tax assets and liabilities arise from changes during
the year in temporary differences between the accounting and tax basis of assets and liabilities. A future income tax asset is
recognized to the extent that the benefit of losses and deductions available to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes
are more likely than not to be realized.

Translation of foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the rates prevailing on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position date. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
Canadian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Realized gains and losses resulting from translation are
recorded in non-interest income on the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are financial contracts whose values are derived from an underlying interest rate, foreign
exchange rate, equity, commodity instrument, or index. In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union enters into derivative
transactions for asset/liability management purposes. Such derivatives include contracts that reposition the Credit Union’s overall
interest rate risk profile.
The Credit Union has chosen not to use hedge accounting; therefore, all derivatives are recorded at fair value in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, with unrealized and realized gains and losses recognized as non-interest income in the current
period. Derivative financial instruments with a positive fair value are reported in other assets and derivative financial instruments
with a negative fair value are included in other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

When available, quoted market prices are used to determine the fair value of derivative financial instruments. Otherwise, fair
value is determined using pricing models that consider current market prices and the contractual prices of underlying instruments,
the time value of money, yield curves, volatility and credit risk factors.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition
Loan revenue
Loan interest income and loan origination fees are recognized on the accrual basis and measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Loan interest income is not recognized once a loan has become impaired.
Security revenue
Dividends and interest on securities are recognized on the accrual basis and recorded in securities income.
Derivative interest revenue and expenses
Derivative interest revenue and expenses are calculated on an accrual basis at fair value and the net amount is recorded in noninterest income.
Security gains and losses
For securities classified as held for trading, increases and decreases in fair values are recorded in non-interest income as unrealized
gains and losses on securities. Realized securities gains and losses are recorded when the related securities are sold. These
amounts are recorded in non-interest income as unrealized and realized gains and losses on securities.
For securities classified as available for sale, unrealized gains or losses resulting from temporary changes in fair values are
recorded, net of taxes, in other comprehensive income. Fair value declines that are other than temporary are moved from other
comprehensive income into non-interest income. Gains and losses on these securities are recognized in non-interest income when
sold.
For securities classified as held to maturity, gains or losses on these securities are recognized at the time of maturity in non-interest
income.
Fees
Fees, other than loan origination fees, are recognized as non-interest income in the year the related service is provided. These fees
include annual review fees, payment deferral fees, mortgage prepayment bonus fees, letter of credit fees, small business loans
fees and outgoing mortgage transfer fees. Loan origination fees are fees charged at the inception or origination of the loan such as
application fees, processing fees, search fees, disbursement fees, renewal fees, credit check fees, registration fees, personal property
security registration fees and amendment fees. These fees are grouped with the related loans and amortized using the effective
interest method.
Transaction costs
Transaction costs relating to assets classified as loans and receivables are accounted for in accordance with the fees policy above.
Transaction costs relating to available for sale assets, and held for trading assets or liabilities are recorded as income or expenses in
the Consolidated Statement of Income as they are incurred.
Transaction costs relating to held to maturity assets and other liabilities are included in the determination of amortized cost using
the effective interest method.
Non-interest income
Other non-interest income is recognized in the fiscal period in which the related service is provided.

*Mutual funds are offered through Credential Asset Management Inc. and mutual funds and other securities are
offered through Credential Securities Inc. and Credential Direct®, a division of Credential Securities Inc., which
operates as a separate business unit. Credential Securities Inc. is a Member of the Canadian Investor Protection Fund.
Credential Financial Strategies Inc. is a member company under Credential Financial Inc., offering financial planning,
life insurance and investments to members of credit unions and their communities. ®Credential is a registered mark
owned by Credential Financial Inc. and is used under licence.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

3. SECURITIES
The Credit Union’s securities are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in accordance with financial
instrument designation categories. The Credit Union’s recorded values are as follows:

2010

2009

Concentra Financial

26,080

79,392

SaskCentral - shares

28,698

28,698

302,436

283,634

SaskCentral - other investments

4,933

4,780

Securitization retained interest

25,635

25,710

Chartered bank guaranteed

28,574

18,380

9,689

43,895

10,340

11,473

1,286

2,056

437,671

498,018

		

							

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

Federal and provincial government
Other
Accrued interest
Total

The Credit Union’s securities portfolio is comprised of a large number of securities carrying a wide variety of terms, conditions
and issuers held for the purpose of liquidity management and effective utilization of excess funds.
Approximately 80% (2009 - 66%) of the portfolio bears interest at fixed rates and pays interest on a scheduled basis and/or upon
maturity (see also Note 19). The remainder of the portfolio earns interest at variable rates and pays interest on a scheduled basis,
provides a return of dividends over varying periods of time or provides an index-linked return.
Securities of $25,635 (2009 - $25,710) are held as a part of the retained interests associated with the Credit Union’s securitized
assets.
Pursuant to Regulation 18(1)(a), Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral) requires that the Credit Union maintain
10% of its total liabilities in specified liquidity deposits in SaskCentral. The regulator of Saskatchewan Credit Unions, CUDGC
requires that the Credit Union adhere to these prescribed limits and restrictions. As of December 31, 2010, the Credit Union met
the requirement.
SaskCentral is controlled by Saskatchewan credit unions and acts as a trade association, service provider to credit unions and
manager of the provincial statutory liquidity deposits. SaskCentral maintains investments in other credit union service providers
including Concentra Financial Services Association in which it holds 84.3% (2009 - 84.3%) of the non-voting Class A shares and
49% (2009 - 49%) of the voting membership shares.
Currently the Credit Union holds $28,698 in membership shares of SaskCentral, or 22.8% (2009 - $28,698; 22.8%) of the total issued
and outstanding membership shares. As defined in The Credit Union Act, 1998, the Credit Union has a substantial investment
in SaskCentral, and pursuant to The Credit Union Regulations, 1999, the Credit Union has been authorized by CUDGC to hold
this investment. The voting rights, characteristics, and value of membership shares are set out in the bylaws of SaskCentral.
Membership shares of SaskCentral carry an issuance and redemption price of ten dollars per share.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

3. SECURITIES (continued)
Realized gains and losses on securities

2010

2009

Realized gains

659

3,684

Realized losses

(218)

(559)

441

3,125

Net gains on securities

Unrealized gains and losses on securities
2010
Cost/
amort. cost

Unrealized
gains

2009

Unrealized
losses

Fair value/
amort. cost

Cost/
amort. cost

Unrealized
gains

Unrealized
losses

Fair value/
amort. cost

Held for trading
1,139

13

(8)

1,144

34,139

238

–

34,377

103,354

89

(56)

103,387

225,280

655

(34)

225,901

Chartered bank guaranteed

2,000

38

(15)

2,023

12,732

111

(39)

12,804

Federal and provincial government

5,676

64

(46)

5,694

41,014

976

(62)

41,928

Other

6,752

1,608

(232)

8,128

8,524

1,234

(446)

9,312

266

–

–

266

1,538

–

–

1,538

119,187

1,812

(357)

120,642

323,227

3,214

(581)

325,860

Concentra Financial

–

–

–

–

18,000

–

(67)

17,933

SaskCentral - shares

28,698

–

–

28,698

28,698

–

–

28,698

Concentra Financial
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

Accrued interest

Total held for trading securities
Available for sale

173,944

804

(137)

174,611

32,479

50

(73)

32,456

SaskCentral - other investments

4,780

153

–

4,933

4,780

–

–

4,780

Securitization retained interest

24,174

1,461

–

25,635

24,559

1,151

–

25,710

Chartered bank guaranteed

26,927

16

(392)

26,551

5,557

36

(17)

5,576

4,000

1

(6)

3,995

2,000

–

(33)

1,967

983

48

–

1,031

985

32

–

1,017

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

Federal and provincial government
Other
Accrued interest

805

–

–

805

293

–

–

293

264,311

2,483

(535)

266,259

117,351

1,269

(190)

118,430

Concentra Financial

24,936

–

–

24,936

27,082

–

–

27,082

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

24,438

–

–

24,438

25,277

–

–

25,277

215

–

–

215

225

–

–

225

49,589

–

–

49,589

52,584

–

–

52,584

Substantial investments

469

–

–

469

367

–

–

367

Other

712

–

–

712

777

–

–

777

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total available for sale securities

Held to maturity

Accrued interest
Total held to maturity securities

Other securities

Allowance for impaired securities
Accrued interest
Total other securities
Total securities
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–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,181

–

–

1,181

1,144

–

–

1,144

434,268

4,295

(892)

437,671

494,306

4,483

(771)

498,018

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

4. LOANS
The Credit Union’s outstanding loans by portfolio type are as follows:

Loans by portfolio
Performing

Impaired

Specific
allowance

2010
Net

2009
Net

Mortgage guaranteed

444,846

294

(66)

445,074

398,501

Mortgage conventional

446,923

7

(4)

446,926

400,303

Consumer loans

Non-mortgage

433,968

928

(598)

434,298

404,314

1,325,737

1,229

(668)

1,326,298

1,203,118

Mortgage

773,659

27,545

(14,117)

787,087

708,015

Non-mortgage

280,316

4,566

(2,159)

282,723

290,110

Total consumer loans
Commercial loans

Government guaranteed

16,675

157

(52)

16,780

14,706

1,070,650

32,268

(16,328)

1,086,590

1,012,831

Mortgage

138,391

–

–

138,391

136,813

Non-mortgage

112,541

228

(224)

112,545

112,271

41,177

64

(3)

41,238

25,385

292,109

292

(227)

292,174

274,469

763

–

(54)

709

1,197

Accrued interest receivable

10,456

6,769

–

17,225

13,507

General allowance for credit losses

(4,638)

–

–

(4,638)

(4,361)

2,695,077

40,558

(17,277)

2,718,358

2,500,761

Specific
allowance

General
allowance

2010
Total

2009
Total

16,102

4,361

20,463

22,976

Charge for credit losses

4,062

277

4,339

2,677

Interest accrued during year on impaired loans

3,259

–

3,259

2,676

(6,437)

–

(6,437)

(8,321)

291

–

291

455

17,277

4,638

21,915

20,463

Total commercial loans
Agricultural loans

Government guaranteed
Total agricultural loans
Foreclosed property held for resale

Total loans

Allowance for credit losses

Balance - beginning of year

Loans written off
Recoveries on loans previously written off
Balance - end of year
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5. IMPAIRED AND PAST DUE LOANS
Outstanding impaired loans, net of allowance for credit losses, by loan portfolio type, are as follows:

Outstanding impaired loans

2010

2009

Impaired loans

Specific allowance

Net impaired
loans

Net impaired
loans

1,229

(668)

561

452

32,268

(16,328)

15,940

18,836

Consumer
Commercial
Agricultural

292

(227)

65

192

33,789

(17,223)

16,566

19,480

763

(54)

709

1,197

General allowance

(4,638)

(4,361)

Net impaired loans after allowances

12,637

16,316

Total
Foreclosed property held for resale

Net impaired loans exclude certain past due loans where payment of interest or principal is contractually in arrears but where
payment in full is expected. A loan is considered past due when a counterparty has not made payment by the contractual due date.
Details of such past due loans (delinquencies) not included in the impaired amount are as follows:

Past due loans

2010

Consumer

1-30 days

31-90 days

More than
90 days

2009

Total

Total

15,742

2,809

1,603

20,154

12,909

Commercial

1,170

2,502

11,439

15,111

8,286

Agricultural

1,542

1,864

328

3,734

5,324

18,454

7,175

13,370

38,999

26,519

Total delinquency

6. SECURITIZATION
Prior to 2008, the Credit Union sold an amortizing ownership interest in various qualifying commercial mortgage receivables
and residential mortgage receivables to a qualifying special purpose trust and a multi-seller special purpose trust, respectively.
On a monthly basis, principal and interest collections attributable to the specific trusts are forwarded to the trusts. The Credit
Union’s retained interest in the transferred portfolios consists of various credit enhancements and the excess spread. The Credit
Union retains the responsibility for servicing the qualifying commercial mortgage receivables and qualifying residential mortgage
receivables.
The Credit Union has sold an amortizing ownership interest in various qualifying residential mortgage receivables to a multiseller special purpose trust under the Canada Mortgage Bond Program. On a monthly basis, principal and interest collections
attributable to the multi-seller special purpose trust are forwarded to the trust. The Credit Union’s retained interest in the
transferred portfolio consists of the excess spread. The Credit Union retains the responsibility for servicing the qualifying
residential mortgage receivables.
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6. SECURITIZATION (continued)
The Credit Union has sold a revolving ownership interest in the auto loan receivable portfolio to a qualifying special purpose
trust. On a monthly basis, principal collections attributable to the qualifying special purpose trust are reinvested to maintain the
qualifying special purpose trust ownership interest at $141.7 million. Gains or losses from subsequent reinvestment of principal
collections are included in non-interest income from securitized assets. The Credit Union’s retained interest in the transferred
portfolio consists of various credit enhancements and the excess spread. The Credit Union retains the responsibility for servicing
the auto loan receivables.
The following table summarizes the impact of securitization on the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

2010
Residential
mortgages

2009
Auto
loans

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

50,282

–

84,441

–

–

–

69,195

–

–

83,191

Retained interests

4,481

21,154

4,071

–

21,639

Servicing liability

788

835

606

–

883

Loans sold
Revolving re-investing of
collections

Auto
loans

The following table summarizes the impact of securitizations on the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Income:

2010

2009

Residential
mortgages

Auto
loans

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Auto
loans

Gain (loss) on sale of
securitization

2,214

5,672

4,043

15

6,340

Servicing expense

(182)

49

(606)

–

(883)

The following table summarizes the impact of securitizations on the Credit Union’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:

2010

Proceeds from new
securitizations
Cash flows from retained
interests
Loan redemptions

2009

Residential
mortgages

Auto
loans

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Auto
loans

49,974

–

84,351

–

–

1,834

6,441

667

5,752

5,153

14,290

–

9,770

7,533

–

The following table contains key assumptions used to value the retained interest:

Key assumptions

Prepayment rate

2010

2009

Residential
mortgages

Auto
loans

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Auto
loans

13.00%

18.00%

13.00%

0.00%

14.00%

Yield

4.19%

7.38%

4.30%

0.00%

7.60%

Cost of funds

2.75%

3.06%

2.67%

0.00%

3.20%

Servicing costs

0.25%

0.50%

0.25%

0.00%

0.50%

Discount rate

2.66%

6.65%

2.53%

0.00%

7.26%

Expected credit losses

0.00%

0.19%

0.00%

0.00%

0.19%
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6. SECURITIZATION (continued)
The following table presents key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the retained interest to adverse changes in each key assumptions as at December 31, 2010. The sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used with
caution.

2010
Residential
mortgages
Fair value of retained interests

2009
Auto
loans

Residential
mortgages

Commercial
mortgages

Auto
loans

4,480

21,154

4,071

–

21,639

3.74 years

3.91 years

4.17 years

–

3.88 years

Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change

(1,313)

(1,392)

(1,033)

–

(1,518)

Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change

(2,627)

(2,784)

(2,066)

–

(3,035)

Weighted average remaining life
Yield

Cost of funds
Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change

(865)

(544)

(665)

–

(600)

Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change

(1,730)

(1,088)

(1,330)

–

(1,200)

Prepayment rate
Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change

(107)

(194)

(100)

–

(187)

Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change

(211)

(373)

(196)

–

(359)

Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change

–

(31)

–

–

(33)

Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change

–

(62)

–

–

(66)

Expected credit losses

Discount rate
Impact on fair value of a 10% adverse change

(19)

(224)

(17)

–

(273)

Impact on fair value of a 20% adverse change

(37)

(443)

(34)

–

(536)

7. OTHER ASSETS
Accounts receivable
Future income tax asset
Derivative-related amounts
Prepaid expenses
Total
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2010

2009

15,722

14,640

–

662

4,484

4,815

693

656

20,899

20,773

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2010
Cost

2009

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Franchise fees

113

(93)

20

113

(86)

27

Customer lists

6,291

(3,736)

2,555

6,291

(3,087)

3,204

Software

5,087

(2,447)

2,640

3,829

(1,454)

2,375

Assets under development

10,131

–

10,131

4,720

–

4,720

Total

21,622

(6,276)

15,346

14,953

(4,627)

10,326

The amortization expense for intangible assets for 2010 was $2,075 (2009 - $1,639). There were no write downs of
intangible assets due to impairments for the year ended December 31, 2010 (2009 - $nil).

9. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT
2010
Cost
Land

2009

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

Cost

Accumulated
amortization

Net book
value

3,511

–

3,511

3,511

–

3,511

36,544

(11,307)

25,237

34,214

(10,480)

23,734

Computer equipment

7,533

(3,741)

3,792

6,100

(3,043)

3,057

Furniture and equipment

4,539

(2,856)

1,683

4,357

(2,500)

1,857

Leasehold improvements

9,399

(4,635)

4,764

7,139

(3,986)

3,153

Facilities

Assets under construction
Total

2,040

–

2,040

1,694

–

1,694

63,566

(22,539)

41,027

57,015

(20,009)

37,006

The amortization expense for premises and equipment for 2010 was $3,874 (2009 - $3,720).

10. DEPOSITS
2010

2009

Demand

1,525,962

1,353,362

Term

1,036,509

1,081,288

Registered plans

431,558

396,424

Accrued interest

17,298

21,675

3,011,327

2,852,749

Total
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11. LOANS PAYABLE
The Credit Union has an authorized line of credit with SaskCentral in the amount of $75,000 (2009 - $75,000) in Canadian funds
and an authorized line of credit with Concentra Financial Services Association (Concentra) in the amount of $7,000 in U.S. funds
(2009 - $5,000). The interest rate on the Canadian account is the SaskCentral prime interest rate minus 0.50% (2010 - 2.50%,
2009 - 1.75%) and the U.S. account is based on the Concentra U.S. prime interest rate plus 1.00% (2009 - prime interest rate plus
0.50%) (2010 - 4.25%, 2009 - 3.75%). At the end of the year, the amount outstanding was $1,007 for the Canadian account and $nil
for the U.S. account (2009 - $nil for the Canadian account and $nil for the U.S. account). A General Security Agreement and an
assignment of book debts are pledged as security on both lines of credit.

12. OTHER LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Derivative-related amounts
Deferred income
Future income tax liability
Patronage allocation payable
Total

2010

2009

39,716

33,026

4,649

4,129

46

61

135

–

2,449

2,630

46,995

39,846

13. MEMBERSHIP SHARES AND MEMBER EQUITY ACCOUNTS
The authorized share capital is unlimited in amount and consists of shares with a par value of $5 per share. In accordance
with legislation, amounts held to the credit of a member in a member equity account as allocated retained earnings become
membership shares issued by the Credit Union on an equal basis. Member equity accounts are as provided for by The Credit
Union Act, 1998 and administered according to the bylaws and policy of the Credit Union, which sets out the rights, privileges,
restrictions and conditions. These accounts are not guaranteed by CUDGC.
At the approval of the board of directors, earnings are allocated to members on the basis of patronage, having the meaning
patronage allocations. Patronage allocations are credited either to members’ equity accounts or members’ deposit accounts (in
the form of cash distributions). Patronage allocations credited to members’ equity accounts are recorded in membership shares
and member equity accounts on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
The board of directors of the Credit Union declared a patronage allocation equal to 4.0% of personal members’ qualifying
interest earned and interest paid in 2010 (2009 - 4.0%) to be credited to members’ equity and deposit accounts. The board of
directors of the Credit Union also declared a patronage allocation equal to 2.0% of non personal members’ qualifying interest
earned and interest paid in 2010 (2009 - 2.0%) to be credited to members’ equity or deposit accounts. The total patronage
allocation in 2010 is $5,450 (2009 - $5,639).
The following table summarizes share capital information:

Membership shares
based on patronage

Membership
shares required for
membership

Total

20,978

569

21,547

3,004

–

3,004

Membership shares redeemed in 2010

(1,479)

(2)

(1,481)

Issued and outstanding as at
December 31, 2010

22,503

567

23,070

Issued and outstanding as at
December 31, 2009
Membership shares allocated on basis of
patronage as at December 31, 2010
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14. NON-INTEREST INCOME
Account service fees
Loan fees
Loan insurance fees
Insurance and realty commission income
Unrealized and realized gains (losses) on securities (Note 3)
Unrealized and realized gains (losses) on derivatives

2010

2009

10,005

9,680

3,102

3,470

2,906

3,872

27,461

30,064

(595)

854

(1,260)

(967)

Foreign exchange revenue

1,542

1,122

Securitization income

7,753

8,909

ABM fees

2,561

2,597

Other

13,015

13,971

Total

66,490

73,572

15. PENSION PLAN
The Credit Union contributes annually to a defined contribution pension plan for employees. The contributions are held in
trust by the Co-operative Superannuation Society and are not recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The
annual pension expense of $2,981 (2009 - $2,880) is included in personnel expense. As a defined contribution pension plan, the
Credit Union has no future liability or obligation for future contributions to fund benefits to plan members.
Executive management is also eligible for the Supplemental Employee Retirement Plan (SERP). The SERP plan compensates
for Income Tax Act maximums that apply for higher income employees. The annual SERP expense of $49 (2009 - $143) is in
personnel expense. This future obligation of $145 (2009 - $230) is recorded in other liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position and is paid when employment has ended.
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16. INCOME TAX
Income taxes are included in the Consolidated Statement of Income as follows:

2010

2009

3,562

1,066

797

1,086

4,359

2,152

2010

2009

135

175

–

(8)

135

167

2010

2009

4,494

2,319

2010

2009

26,826

16,056

Components of the provision for income taxes:
Current income tax expense
Future income tax expense

Income taxes are included in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income
as follows:
Net unrealized gains (losses) on available for sale
securities
Current income tax expense
Reclassification of (gains) losses on available for sale
securities to income
Current income tax expense (recovery)

Total income tax reported in the consolidated
financial statements:

Reconciliation of the provision for
income taxes:
Income before income taxes
Combined federal and provincial income tax rate
Income taxes at statutory rate

30%

31%

8,048

4,977

Provision for income taxes adjusted for the effect of:
Non-deductible expenses

115

84

Non-taxable dividend income

(72)

(127)

(4,047)

(2,512)

Future income tax expense resulting from tax rate
changes

(44)

109

Other

359

(379)

4,359

2,152

16%

13%

Credit Union rate reduction

Effective rate of tax
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16. INCOME TAX (continued)
The future income tax asset (liability) is comprised of the following:

2010

2009

Investments

(112)

(127)

Premises and equipment

(347)

(308)

Loans

Future income tax assets (liabilities):

(764)

(162)

Deferred revenue

7

9

Subsidiary losses

351

437

Transition adjustment
Loss carryforwards
Other
Net future income tax (liabilities) assets

71

141

626

626

33

46

(135)

662

17. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
CUDGC, the regulator of Saskatchewan credit unions, has prescribed capital adequacy measures and minimum capital
requirements. The capital adequacy rules issued by CUDGC have been based on the Basel II capital standards framework
established by the Bank for International Settlements and adopted by financial institutions around the globe, including
Canadian banks.
CUDGC prescribes three tests to assess the capital adequacy of credit unions: risk-weighted capital ratio (eligible capital to
risk-weighted assets); tier 1 capital to total asset ratio; tier 2 to tier 1 capital ratio. The risk-weighted capital ratio is calculated
as the sum of net tier 1 and 2 capital divided by risk-weighted assets. Regulatory standards require credit unions to maintain a
minimum risk-weighted capital ratio of 8.00%, a minimum tier 1 capital to total assets of 5.00% and tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital
of less than 100.00%. Further CUDGC has provided guidance that a credit union must maintain a tier 1 capital to total assets
ratio of 7.00% and a risk weighted capital ratio of at least 10% to be considered adequately capitalized.
Eligible capital is the total of tier 1 capital and tier 2 capital less deductions related to intangible assets, securitizations, and
unconsolidated substantial investments, and is calculated in accordance with the rules prescribed by CUDGC. Tier 1 capital
is defined as a credit unions’ primary capital and comprises the highest quality of capital elements while tier 2 is secondary
capital and falls short of meeting tier 1 requirements for permanence or freedom from mandatory charge. Tier 1 capital at the
Credit Union includes retained earnings, membership shares, and member equity accounts, less deductions for securitization
transactions. Tier 2 capital at the Credit Union includes general allowance for credit losses to a maximum of 1.25% of riskweighted assets, less deductions for securitization transactions. Risk-weighted assets are calculated in accordance with the rules
established by CUDGC for balance sheet and off-balance sheet risks. Credit risk, derivatives and off balance sheet commitments,
and operational risk are considered in calculating risk-weighted assets. Based on the prescribed risk of each type of asset a
weighting is assigned.
The Credit Union manages capital in accordance with its capital management plan and board approved capital policies. The
capital plan is developed in accordance with the regulatory capital framework and is regularly reviewed and approved by the
Board of Directors. Capital is managed with a goal to achieve and exceed regulatory minimums, meet operational requirements,
absorb unexpected losses while meeting regulatory minimums, and signal financial strength.
If the Credit Union is not in compliance with CUDGC capital requirements, CUDGC may take any necessary action. Necessary
action may include, but is not limited to:
•
•
•
•

reducing or restricting a credit union’s authorities and limits;
subjecting a credit union to preventive intervention;
issuing a compliance order; or,
placing a credit union under supervision or administration.
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17.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)
During the year, the Credit Union complied with all internal and external capital requirements. The following table 		
summarizes key capital information:

Capital summary

2010

2009

Total tier 1 capital

253,613

229,473

Total tier 2 capital

153

–

253,766

229,473

2,333,156

2,211,842

10.88%

10.37%

Tier 1 capital to total assets

7.63%

7.32%

Tier 2 capital to tier 1 capital

0.06%

0.00%

Eligible capital

Total

Risk-weighted assets
Total eligible capital to risk-weighted assets

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Loans receivable

At December 31, 2010, certain members of the board of directors and management were indebted to the Credit Union for
amounts totalling $11,626 (2009 - $3,360). These loans were granted in accordance with the Credit Union’s policies and are
included in loans on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Deposit accounts

At December 31, 2010, certain members of the board of directors and management held deposit accounts at the Credit Union for
amounts totalling $5,144 (2009 - $3,019). These accounts are maintained in accordance with the Credit Union’s policies and are
included in deposits on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Remuneration paid to the board of directors in 2010 amounted to $265 (2009 - $187) plus travel and other reimbursements of
$108 (2009 - $80).
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19. CONTRACTUAL RE-PRICING AND MATURITY SCHEDULE
The following table details the Credit Union’s exposure to interest rate risk as measured by the mismatch or gap, between the
maturities or repricing dates of interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities, both on and off the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. Interest rate risk refers to the potential impact of changes in interest rates on the Credit Union’s earnings when maturities
of its financial liabilities and financial assets are not matched.
Repricing dates are based on the earlier of maturity or the contractual repricing date and effective interest rates, where applicable,
represent the weighted average effective yield.

2010
1 month
to under 3
months

3 months
to under 1
year

1 year to
under 5
years

Over 5
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Yield

Floating

Total

Cash

0.45%

63,563

–

–

–

–

28,802

92,365

Securities

3.34%

75,795

68,433

68,855

211,282

12,020

1,286

437,671

Loans

Assets

5.06%

1,055,800

138,003

342,839

1,177,342

8,302

(3,928)

2,718,358

Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

20,899

20,899

Intangible assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

15,346

15,346

Premises and equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

41,027

41,027

4.40%

1,195,158

206,436

411,694

1,388,624

20,322

103,432

3,325,666

Deposits

1.41%

1,139,929

144,754

329,759

963,356

–

433,529

3,011,327

Loans payable

2.50%

1,007

–

–

–

–

–

1,007

–

–

–

–

–

–

46,995

46,995

Liabilities

Other liabilities
Member shares and member equity accounts

–

–

–

–

–

–

23,070

23,070

1.38%

1,140,936

144,754

329,759

963,356

–

503,594

3,082,399

Retained earnings

–

–

–

–

–

–

241,622

241,622

Accumulated other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,645

1,645

Members’ equity

Asset/liability gap

–

–

–

–

–

243,267

243,267

54,222

61,682

81,935

425,268

20,322

(643,429)

–

Notional amount of derivatives
Pay side instruments

1.89%

–

(50,150)

(50,000)

(17,858)

(2,122)

–

(120,130)

Receive side instruments

2.36%

–

69,185

50,795

150

–

–

120,130

–

19,035

795

(17,708)

(2,122)

–

–

54,222

80,717

82,730

407,560

18,200

(643,429)

–

Off balance sheet gap
Interest rate gap position
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19. CONTRACTUAL RE-PRICING AND MATURITY SCHEDULE (continued)
2009
Yield

Floating

1 month
to under 3
months

3 months
to under 1
year

1 year to
under 5
years

Over 5
years

Noninterest
sensitive

Total

Cash

0.10%

28,738

–

–

–

–

38,586

67,324

Securities

1.50%

159,239

59,700

98,999

174,921

3,103

2,056

498,018

Loans

4.93%

1,049,476

76,286

329,229

1,042,674

8,816

(5,720)

2,500,761

Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

20,773

20,773

Intangible assets

–

–

–

–

–

–

10,326

10,326

Premises and equipment

–

–

–

–

–

–

37,006

37,006

4.22%

1,237,453

135,986

428,228

1,217,595

11,919

103,027

3,134,208

1.67%

998,106

142,102

551,071

761,798

76

399,596

2,852,749

Loans payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

–

–

–

–

–

–

39,846

39,846

Member shares and member equity accounts

–

–

–

–

–

–

21,547

21,547

1.67%

998,106

142,102

551,071

761,798

76

460,989

2,914,142

Retained earnings

–

–

–

–

–

–

219,155

219,155

Accumulated other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

911

911

–

–

–

–

–

220,066

220,066

239,347

(6,116)

(122,843)

455,797

11,843

(578,028)

–

Assets

Liabilities
Deposits

Members’ equity

Asset/liability gap
Notional amount of derivatives
Pay side instruments

1.42%

–

(25,035)

(25,000)

(57,724)

(800)

–

(108,559)

Receive side instruments

1.87%

–

56,104

2,455

50,000

–

–

108,559

–

31,069

(22,545)

(7,724)

(800)

–

–

239,347

24,953

(145,388)

448,073

11,043

(578,028)

–

Off balance sheet gap
Interest rate gap position
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20. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following table represents the fair values of the Credit Union’s financial instruments, including derivatives. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate fair values of financial instruments:
The fair values of short term financial instruments including cash, other assets, other liabilities, accrued income and
expenses are approximately equal to the book values.
Fair values of securities are based on quoted market prices when available, discounted cash flow calculations based on
interest rates being offered for similar securities or quoted market prices of similar investments.
For variable interest rate loans that reprice frequently, fair values are approximated by book values. Fair values of other
loans are estimated using discounted cash flow calculations at market interest rates for groups of loans with similar terms
and credit risk.
Carrying values approximate fair values for deposits, loans payable and membership shares and member equity accounts
without specified maturity terms. Fair values for other deposits and loans payable with specific maturity terms are
estimated using discounted cash flow calculations at market interest rates for deposits with similar terms.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is estimated by reference to the appropriate current market yields with
matching terms to maturity. The fair values reflect the estimated amounts that the Credit Union would receive or pay to
terminate the contracts at the reporting date.
The undernoted fair values, presented for information only, reflect conditions that existed only at the respective reporting dates
and do not necessarily reflect future value or the amounts the Credit Union might receive or pay if it were to dispose of any of
its financial instruments prior to their maturity.

2010
Carrying
value

2009

Fair
value

Difference

Carrying
value

Fair
value

Difference

Assets
Cash resources

92,365

92,365

–

67,324

67,324

–

437,202

437,206

4

497,651

497,754

103

2,736,499

2,790,263

53,764

2,510,156

2,557,724

47,568

12,732

12,732

–

12,002

12,002

–

4,484

4,484

–

4,815

4,815

–

3,283,282

3,337,050

53,768

3,091,948

3,139,619

47,671

3,011,327

3,023,578

12,251

2,852,749

2,890,451

37,702

Loans payable

1,007

1,007

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

37,194

37,194

–

33,192

33,192

–

4,649

4,649

–

4,129

4,129

–

Securities
Loans
Other assets
Derivative-related amounts
Liabilities
Deposits

Derivative-related amounts
Membership shares and
member equity accounts

23,070

23,070

–

21,547

21,547

–

3,077,247

3,089,498

12,251

2,911,617

2,949,319

37,702
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21. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HIERARCHY
The following table represents the hierarchy of financial instruments that the Credit Union measures at fair value in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:

2010

Total

Quoted prices in
active markets
(Level 1)

Other observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

92,365

92,365

–

–

1,144

–

1,144

–

Financial assets
Cash
Securities
Concentra Financial
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

277,998

–

277,998

–

SaskCentral - other investments

4,933

–

–

4,933

Securitization retained interest (1)

25,635

–

–

25,635

Chartered bank guaranteed

28,574

–

28,574

–

Federal and provincial government

9,689

–

9,689

–

Other securities

9,159

–

9,159

–

Accrued interest

1,071

–

1,071

–

4,484

–

4,484

–

455,052

92,365

332,119

30,568

4,649

–

4,649

–

4,649

–

4,649

–

Derivatives
Financial liabilities
Derivatives (2)

(1)

Refer to securitization sensitivity analysis in Note 6.

(2)

Derivatives are the only liabilities measured at fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.				

The following table reconciles the Credit Union’s level 3 fair value measurements from December 31, 2009 to December 31, 2010:
Fair value measurements using level 3 inputs
Balance at December 31, 2009
Gain (loss) included in net income

25,710
(1)

413

Gain (loss) included in OCI

1,538

Sales of securitized loans

6,240

Settlements of securitized loans
Transfers in (out) of level 3
Balance at December 31, 2010
(1)

Gain (loss) included in net income is included as part of securitization income and impairment of securities in the Consolidated Statement of Income
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21. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HIERARCHY (continued)
2009

Total

Quoted prices in
active markets
(Level 1)

Other observable
inputs
(Level 2)

Unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

67,324

67,324

–

–

Financial assets
Cash
Securities
Concentra Financial
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits
SaskCentral - other investments

52,310

–

52,310

–

258,357

–

258,357

–

–

–

–

–

25,710

–

–

25,710

Chartered bank guaranteed

18,380

–

18,380

–

Federal and provincial government

43,895

–

43,895

–

Other securities

10,317

–

10,317

–

Accrued interest

1,707

–

1,707

–

4,815

–

4,815

–

482,815

67,324

389,781

25,710

4,129

–

4,129

–

4,129

–

4,129

–

Securitization retained interest

(1)

Derivatives
Financial liabilities
Derivatives (2)

(1)

Refer to securitization sensitivity analysis in Note 6.

(2)

Derivatives are the only liabilities measured at fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.				

The following table reconciles the Credit Union’s level 3 fair value measurements from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009:
Fair value measurements using level 3 inputs
Balance at December 31, 2008
Gain (loss) included in net income

25,160
649

(1)

Gain (loss) included in OCI

2,057

Sales of securitized loans

8,106

Settlements of securitized loans

(10,262)

Transfers in (out) of level 3

–

Balance at December 31, 2009
(1)

25,710

Gain (loss) included in net income is included as part of securitization income and impairment of securities in the Consolidated Statement of Income
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22. CLASSIFICATION AND SIGNIFICANCE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following table illustrates the classification and significance of financial instruments, in accordance with the methods and
policies previously described in Note 2.

2010
Held for
trading

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Loans and
receivables

Other
liabilities

Non financial
instrument (4)

Total

92,365

–

–

–

–

–

92,365

1,144

24,936

–

–

–

–

26,080

Financial assets
Cash
Securities
Concentra Financial
SaskCentral - shares

(1)

SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

SaskCentral - other investments
Securitization retained interest

(2)

Chartered bank guaranteed

–

–

28,698

–

–

–

28,698

103,387

24,438

174,611

–

–

–

302,436

–

–

4,933

–

–

–

4,933

–

–

25,635

–

–

–

25,635

2,023

–

26,551

–

–

–

28,574

Federal and provincial government

5,694

–

3,995

–

–

–

9,689

Other securities

8,128

–

1,031

712

–

469

10,340

266

215

805

–

–

–

1,286

–

–

–

2,736,499

–

(18,141)

2,718,358

Accrued interest
Loans
Other assets (3)
Other intangibles
Premises and equipment

4,484

–

–

12,732

–

3,683

20,899

–

–

–

–

–

15,346

15,346

–

–

–

–

–

41,027

41,027

217,491

49,589

266,259

2,749,943

–

42,384

3,325,666

Deposits

–

–

–

–

3,011,327

–

3,011,327

Loans payable

–

–

–

–

1,007

–

1,007

4,649

–

–

–

37,194

5,152

46,995

–

–

–

–

23,070

–

23,070

4,649

–

–

–

3,072,598

5,152

3,082,399

Financial liabilities

Other liabilities

(3)

Member shares and member equity accounts

(1)
The Credit Union has designated its equity investment in SaskCentral shares as available for sale and recorded it at cost. Fair value information is not disclosed
because a quoted market price is unavailable in an active market and fair value cannot be measured reliably. The holders of SaskCentral shares are Saskatchewan
credit unions and holders may redeem only with the approval of the issuer and subject to the limits provided in The Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan Act,
1999. The issue and redemption price of SaskCentral shares is determined with reference to the bylaws of SaskCentral at $10 per share. The Credit Union is
required to hold the current number of SaskCentral shares and has no intention to request redemption.

(2)

Refer to asset securitization accounting policy in Note 2 for details.

(3)

Includes derivative-related amounts.

(4)

Assets, liabilities and equity that are excluded from the definition of financial instruments as defined in CICA Handbook Section 3855.

Annual Report • 2010

72

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
($ in thousands)
For the year ended December 31, 2010

22. CLASSIFICATION AND SIGNIFICANCE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
2009
Held for
trading

Held to
maturity

Available
for sale

Loans and
receivables

Other
liabilities

Non financial
instrument (5)

Total

67,324

–

–

–

–

–

67,324

34,377

27,082

17,933

–

–

–

79,392

–

–

28,698

–

–

–

28,698

225,901

25,277

32,456

–

–

–

283,634

–

–

4,780

–

–

–

4,780

Financial assets
Cash
Securities
Concentra Financial
SaskCentral - shares (1)
SaskCentral - statutory liquidity deposits

SaskCentral - other investments (3)
Securitization retained interest

–

–

25,710

–

–

–

25,710

Chartered bank guaranteed

12,804

–

5,576

–

–

–

18,380

Federal and provincial government

(2)

41,928

–

1,967

–

–

–

43,895

Other securities (3)

9,312

–

1,017

777

–

367

11,473

Accrued interest

1,538

225

293

–

–

–

2,056

–

–

–

2,510,156

–

(9,395)

2,500,761

Loans
Other assets (4)
Other intangibles
Premises and equipment

4,815

–

–

12,002

–

3,956

20,773

–

–

–

–

–

10,326

10,326

–

–

–

–

–

37,006

37,006

397,999

52,584

118,430

2,522,935

–

42,260

3,134,208

Financial liabilities
Deposits

–

–

–

–

2,852,749

–

2,852,749

Loans payable

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

(4)

Member shares and member equity accounts

4,129

–

–

–

33,192

2,525

39,846

–

–

–

–

21,547

–

21,547

4,129

–

–

–

2,907,488

2,525

2,914,142

(1)
The Credit Union has designated its equity investment in SaskCentral shares as available for sale and recorded it at cost. Fair value information is not
disclosed because a quoted market price is unavailable in an active market and fair value cannot be measured reliably. The holders of SaskCentral shares are
Saskatchewan credit unions and holders may redeem only with the approval of the issuer and subject to the limits provided in The Credit Union Central of
Saskatchewan Act, 1999. The issue and redemption price of SaskCentral shares is determined with reference to the bylaws of SaskCentral at $10 per share. The
Credit Union is required to hold the current number of SaskCentral shares and has no intention to request redemption.

(2)

Refer to asset securitization accounting policy in Note 2 for details.					

The Credit Union has designated several other investments as available for sale and recorded them at cost. Fair value information is not disclosed because
a quoted market price is unavailable in an active market and fair value cannot be measured reliably. Cost has been determined the most appropriate value to
assign to these investments. These investments are reviewed periodically for impairment and any decline in the value that is other than temporary is recorded
in income. The amount of these investments total $33,615, with no impairments.
(3)

(4)

Includes derivative-related amounts.

(5)

Assets, liabilities and equity that are excluded from the definition of financial instruments as defined in CICA Handbook Section 3855.
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Credit Union is exposed to the following risks as a result of holding financial instruments: credit risk; market risk; and
liquidity risk. The following is a description of those risks and how they are managed.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from a borrower or counterparty failing to meet its obligations. Credit risk
primarily arises from the Credit Union’s direct lending activities, and the possibility that members will be unable or unwilling to
repay some or all of the principal amount and interest they have borrowed. The Credit Union’s estimate of its exposure to credit
risk with respect to loans is reported in Note 4 and Note 5. For securities and derivative instruments, the credit risk the Credit
Union is exposed to is the risk of default by the counterparty.
Credit risk management processes and controls for loans
The credit granting process is controlled by board approved policies, as well as detailed loan policy manuals for each credit
portfolio type: commercial, agricultural and consumer. These detailed loan policy manuals are developed, maintained and
approved by the lending operations department. Each credit application is assessed in accordance with these policies. The
assessment of commercial and agricultural credit includes the assignment of a credit score in accordance with internal credit
rating criteria. The Credit Union’s credit risk processes and controls relating to lending activities are managed through a
centralized department – lending operations. The function of the lending operations department includes development of
lending policies, monitoring of organizational credit risk and oversight approval of lending where the amount exceeds the
authorization levels for retail management, or where the underwriting is outside of the operational lending policies. Lending
decision making authority is determined in compliance with the delegation of authority set out in the credit risk management
policies. The lending operations department also provides approval and underwriting support to lenders for loans that are
considered to be complex, unusual, higher risk or problematic.
The detailed lending policies set out criteria to determine annual review requirements for all loan types to ensure adequate
monitoring of the Credit Union’s credit exposure. Accounts that are deemed to be higher than average risk are subject to more
frequent monitoring. These accounts are brought to the attention of the lending operations department to provide direction on
specific monitoring requirements.
Credit risk limits for loans
The Credit Union has implemented certain credit limits through board policy. These limits are in place to manage the overall
credit risk of the loan portfolio and establish parameters for credit diversification. The Credit Union has established limits for
each loan portfolio type (agriculture, consumer mortgage, consumer non-mortgage, and commercial loans), limits by industry,
as well as maximum borrowing limits for individual borrowers. The Credit Union has a maximum exposure limit to an
individual borrower, or connected borrowers, of 25% of capital.
The Credit Union also controls credit risk using various risk mitigation techniques. The most common method used to mitigate
credit risk is to obtain quality security from counterparties in guarantee of the Credit Union’s commitments. A second common
risk mitigation method is to syndicate or securitize loans as a means of transferring to a third party a portion of the credit risk.
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 		
(continued)
The following table illustrates the Credit Union’s loan portfolio mix as a percentage of assets at year-end:

Loan portfolio mix for loans

2010

2009

Total

Percentage

Total

Percentage

Mortgage guaranteed

445,074

13.38%

398,501

12.71%

Mortgage conventional

446,926

13.44%

400,303

12.77%

Non-mortgage

434,298

13.06%

404,314

12.90%

1,326,298

39.88%

1,203,118

38.38%

Mortgage

787,087

23.67%

708,015

22.59%

Non-mortgage

282,723

8.50%

290,110

9.26%

Consumer loans

Total consumer loans
Commercial loans

Government guaranteed

16,780

0.50%

14,706

0.47%

1,086,590

32.67%

1,012,831

32.32%

Mortgage

138,391

4.16%

136,813

4.36%

Non-mortgage

112,545

3.38%

112,271

3.58%

Total commercial loans
Agricultural loans

Government guaranteed
Total agricultural loans
Foreclosed property held for resale

41,238

1.24%

25,385

0.81%

292,174

8.78%

274,469

8.75%

709

0.02%

1,197

0.04%

Accrued interest receivable

17,225

0.52%

13,507

0.43%

General allowance for credit losses

(4,638)

-0.14%

(4,361)

-0.14%

2,718,358

81.73%

2,500,761

79.78%

Total loans

Guarantees for loans
In some cases, the Credit Union obtains third party guarantees and insurance to reduce the risk of loan default. In total, 18%
(19% in 2009) of the Credit Union’s loan portfolio is guaranteed by a federal government program or agency. The largest of
these guarantees is in the residential mortgage portfolio, which is guaranteed by either Genworth Financial Canada at 9% (10%
in 2009) or CMHC (Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation), a government owned corporation, at 7% (7% in 2009). Other
noteworthy guarantors include the Government of Canada’s CSBFP (Canada Small Business Financing Program) for small
business loans at 1% (1% in 2009) and the Government of Canada’s CALA (Canadian Agricultural Loans Act) program for farm
improvement loans at 2% (1% in 2009) of total loans.
Security for loans
The Credit Union has a credit risk management process that involves policies for the valuation of security on loans. Security
limits are set based on the type of loan and industry with a related policy that dictates how security is valued. Updates for
these valuations are performed periodically to ensure they remain reasonable.
Credit risk management for securities and derivative instruments
Securities and derivative management is performed in accordance with board approved policies. Investment policies set out
eligible securities and limits with respect to issuer groups, single entity exposures and maximum terms. Eligible derivatives,
including limits and counterparties are defined in policy. Authority limits to purchase and dispose of securities and derivatives
are established in policy. Credit risk within the securities and derivative portfolios is monitored and measured by reviewing
exposure to individual counterparties to ensure total securities and derivatives are within policy limits by issuer weightings and
by dollar amount. This also mitigates concentration risk in the portfolio. The quality of the counterparties is assessed through
published credit ratings.
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk is comprised of two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk. The primary market risk
exposure of the Credit Union is interest rate risk, specifically, from timing differences in the re-pricing of assets and liabilities,
both on and off balance sheet. Interest rate movements can cause changes in interest income and interest expense and, although
these changes move in the same direction, their relative magnitude will have a favourable or unfavourable impact on annual net
interest income and the economic value (present value of estimated cash flows) of members’ equity. The extent of that impact
depends on several factors, including asset and liability matching and interest rate curves. Regular simulation modelling is
performed to assess the impact of various risk scenarios on net interest income and the economic value of members’ equity and
to guide the management of interest rate risk.
Processes and controls
Interest rate risk is managed in accordance with specific operating and board policies. The policies set risk limits based on the
impact of a change in interest rates on the following: annual net interest income, market value of assets and economic value of
members’ equity.
The impact of movements in interest rates on the financial position and earnings of the Credit Union is measured through a
number of sophisticated tests, namely: income simulation, static gap analysis, stochastic analysis (earnings at risk), value at risk
(economic value of equity) and duration analysis. Using rate sensitivity analysis with probable rate scenarios, interest rate risk
is managed to comply with the Credit Union’s policy requirement. For 2010, the Credit Union’s interest rate risk was within
acceptable levels, as measured by board approved parameters.
Interest rate risk is reported to the Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO). One of the committee’s primary
responsibilities is to provide oversight and direction for the management of interest rate risk. ALCO establishes and approves
targets and strategies related to interest rate risk management and liquidity management. The ALCO is comprised of the CEO,
all executive management and other selected senior management from the areas of finance, risk management, lending and retail
operations. The ALCO frequently reviews historical and forward looking performance and risk measurements as part of a
standardized reporting package. These reports include simulation results on interest margin with stress testing and scenario
analysis.
Stress testing and scenario analysis
Stress testing and scenario analysis is performed and measured in relation to policy limits as part of the monthly interest rate
risk simulation process. These tests include the effects of most likely and stressed movements in interest rates on the financial
position of the Credit Union and its current and projected net earnings. Interest rate risk stress testing includes illustrating the
impact of the most likely scenario (based on the Credit Union’s rate forecast), a flat rate scenario, declining rate scenario (3%
decline in prime rate over one year), rising rate scenario (3% increase in prime rate over one year), a shock down of 100 basis
points, and a shock up of 100 basis points (100 basis points is equal to 1 percent).
The following table illustrates the potential impact of an immediate and sustained 100 basis point change in interest rates on net
income and other comprehensive income and economic value of equity. These measures are based upon assumptions made by
management.

2010

2009

5,286

5,524

(2,110)

(471)

(5,198)

(1,370)

2,168

120

100-basis-point increase in interest rate:
Impact on net income
Impact on other comprehensive income
100-basis-point (25-basis-point in 2009) decrease in interest rate
Impact on net income
Impact on other comprehensive income
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(continued)
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Credit Union is exposed to currency risk because of members’ U.S. dollar deposits. The Credit
Union mitigates currency risk by investing in offsetting foreign denominated financial instruments of similar terms. Currency
risk is managed in accordance with prescribed regulatory requirements and internal board policy, including limits with respect
to the maximum holdings of unhedged foreign currency.
The Credit Union measures currency risk based on the percentage of foreign denominated financial assets against similar
foreign denominated financial liabilities on a daily basis. As at December 31, 2010, the percentage of foreign denominated
financial assets is 103% (2009 - 99%) of foreign denominated financial liabilities.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from having insufficient funds to meet financial obligations without having to raise funds at unfavourable
rates or selling assets on a forced basis. Liquidity risk stems from mismatched cash flows between assets and liabilities as well
as certain product characteristics, including commitments to extend credit and redemption features on deposits. One of the
Credit Union’s primary objectives as a financial institution is to prudently manage liquidity to ensure that the Credit Union is
able to generate or obtain sufficient cash or cash equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable price, to meet commitments as
they become due, even under stressed conditions. Liquidity management ensures variations in cash flows are managed on a
daily and seasonal basis.
Liquidity risk is managed through a three tiered structure: local credit union level; the Saskatchewan provincial credit
union system tier; and the national Canadian credit union system tier. At the local level, the Credit Union liquidity risk is
managed according to an established framework which includes: established strategies and policies for managing liquidity
risk; maintaining a portfolio of liquid assets; measuring and monitoring funding requirements; managing market access to
funds; contingency plans; and internal controls over management practices and processes. At the provincial level, SaskCentral
manages a provincial statutory liquidity pool on behalf of Saskatchewan credit unions. At the national level, Credit Union
Central of Canada maintains required levels of marketable securities to support national system liquidity needs.
Liquidity management framework
The Credit Union’s liquidity management framework and liquidity targets and strategies are reviewed and documented in a
liquidity management plan. The plan also identifies the long-term liquidity requirements of the Credit Union and describes
the strategies to meet any funding needs. The plan is periodically reviewed by management and approved by the board of
directors. Liquidity risk is managed in accordance to specific operating and board policies. Board policies set out the level of
acceptable liquidity risk and the Credit Union’s processes and controls for managing liquidity. As required by policy, the Credit
Union has established limits and requirements with respect to: level of liquid assets; quality of liquid assets; concentration limits,
cash flow mismatch limits and procedural control requirements with respect to measuring and monitoring liquidity risk.
Fundamental to the Credit Union’s liquidity management framework is the assessment of the adequacy of liquidity under both
normal operating conditions and under stress conditions. Stress conditions may include a liquidity event or crisis. The Credit
Union maintains appropriate contingency plans to handle such an event.
Deposit liabilities are the Credit Union’s primary funding source. Accordingly, diversification of deposits by product type,
counterparty and term structure is an important element of the liquidity management framework. The Credit Union maintains
access to borrowings facilities as detailed in Note 11 to augment and diversify liquidity requirements. The Credit Union also
uses securitization, loan sales and syndications to manage funding requirements.
The primary measurement of the adequacy of the liquidity at the Credit Union is the operating liquidity ratio. This ratio is
calculated as available liquidity and cash inflows divided by cash outflows. Available liquidity is defined as securities which are
immediately available as cash, securities marketable in an active secondary market, redeemable securities held with Concentra
Financial and committed credit facilities. The Credit Union seeks to maintain this ratio at greater than or equal to 150%.
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 		
(continued)
The following table summarizes the Credit Unions liquid assets at December 31:

2010

2009

Cash and overnight deposits

92,365

67,324

Other marketable securities

42,127

67,479

Other liquid investments held with Concentra Financial

304

25,395

Statutory liquidity investments at SaskCentral

302,436

283,634

Total liquid assets

437,232

443,832

The following table summarizes the Credit Unions cash flows payable under financial liabilities by remaining contractual
maturities at December 31:

2010

Less than
1 year

1 year to
under
2 years

2 years to
under
3 years

3 years to
under
4 years

4 years to
under
5 years

Over
5 years

Total

Liabilities
Deposits

2,047,971

480,243

302,110

65,729

111,128

4,146

3,011,327

Loans payable

1,007

–

–

–

–

–

1,007

Other liabilities

46,995

–

–

–

–

–

46,995

Member shares and member equity accounts

23,070

–

–

–

–

–

23,070

2,119,043

480,243

302,110

65,729

111,128

4,146

3,082,399

2009
Less than
1 year

1 year to
under
2 years

2 years to
under
3 years

3 years to
under
4 years

4 years to
under
5 years

Over
5 years

Total

2,090,875

320,896

338,293

73,265

29,344

76

2,852,749

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Other liabilities

39,846

–

–

–

–

–

39,846

Member shares and member equity accounts

21,547

–

–

–

–

–

21,547

2,152,268

320,896

338,293

73,265

29,344

76

2,914,142

Liabilities
Deposits
Loans payable
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23. NATURE AND EXTENT OF RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 		
(continued)
Processes and controls
Various internal controls have been implemented into the liquidity management process. Specifically, the liquidity position
of the Credit Union is regularly reported to executive management, ALCO and the board. Included in the ALCO mandate
is to review, monitor and set management risk limits with respect to liquidity. A review is conducted by the enterprise risk
management department on the compliance to established liquidity policies and procedures and the interdependence of
liquidity risk to other organizational risks such as strategic risk and credit risk. A periodic review is also conducted by internal
audit on the liquidity management processes and systems of the Credit Union.
Stress testing and scenario analysis
Stress testing and scenario analysis is performed to assess the adequacy of liquidity. Contingency plans address liquidity
management under scenario events or stressed conditions. Stress and scenario conditions include larger than predicted deposit
withdrawals and borrowing levels, as well as market disruptions resulting in limited to no access to capital markets.

24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating leases

The Credit Union has entered into lease agreements expiring on various dates to the year 2027. The lease agreements are treated
as operating leases with rents charged to operations in the year to which they are related. The aggregate lease commitments are
as follows:
2011

3,308

2012

2,615

2013

1,392

2014

730

2015
Thereafter
Total

641
1,757
10,443

Credit instruments

The following amounts represent the maximum amount of additional credit that the Credit Union could be obligated to extend:

2010

2009

Undrawn lines of credit

243,700

245,502

Commitments to extend credit

402,405

419,770

22,866

23,446

668,971

688,718

Letters of credit
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24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)
Investment commitments

Pursuant to the Bylaws of SaskCentral, and unless otherwise notified by SaskCentral, the Credit Union is required to maintain
membership shares in SaskCentral in an amount equal to no less than 1% of the Credit Union’s assets. Currently the Credit
Union has 0.86% (2009 - 0.92%) of assets in membership shares in SaskCentral.

Other commitments

The Credit Union is committed to an investment of $8,148 at December 31, 2010 (2009 - $8,148) in the Apex Investment Fund.
The commitment will be funded in part through redemption of units in Prairie Ventures Limited Partnership. Cash calls at
December 31, 2010 total $2,901 (2009 - $2,267) and have been included in investments on the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.
The Credit Union has a commitment to Saskworks Venture Fund in the form of a promissory note at December 31, 2010 of $7,642
(2009 - $5,968).
The Credit Union has various other commitments as follows:
2011

2,630

2012

1,631

2013

1,297

2014

565

2015

495

Thereafter

2,015

Total

8,633

Contingencies

The Credit Union is in continued correspondence with Canada Revenue Agency regarding the treatment of the preferred rate
amount for credit unions on the formation of the Credit Union in 2006. The likelihood of changes, if any, in the provision for
income tax as a result of this ongoing correspondence currently cannot be determined.
In the ordinary course of business, the Credit Union has legal proceedings brought against it and provisions are recorded when
appropriate. It is the opinion of management that final determination of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on
the Credit Union.

25. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Credit Union’s operations and activities are organized around two operating business segments: credit union services and
real estate brokerage. The operating segments identified are managed separately as individual business units. Each segment is
distinguished by the services offered, as follows:

Credit union services

The Credit Union provides financial, insurance and mortgage brokerage services to clients and property and facilities
management services. Financial products and services include lending, savings, chequing, term deposit and registered
products; as provided by Conexus Credit Union to a variety of members and non-members within consumer, agricultural
and commercial markets through branch, telephone and electronic delivery channels. Insurance services include a full
range of property insurance, casualty insurance, life insurance and motor vehicle licensing services to clients; as provided
by the subsidiary Conexus Insurance Ltd. Mortgage brokerage services include full service mortgage brokerage services; as
provided by the subsidiary CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd. Property and facilities management include the purchase,
maintenance and leasing of properties and facilities to internal clients as provided by Protexus Holdings Inc.

Real estate brokerage

The Credit Union provides a full range of real estate brokerage services to buyers and sellers; as provided by the subsidiary
CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd.
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25. SEGMENTED INFORMATION (continued)
The accounting policies of each of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. Transactions between segments are eliminated and such transactions are at terms that approximate fair value. The
following highlights key financial information for the operations of these segments.

2010
Credit union
services

Real estate
brokerage

Inter company
elimination entries

Total

Interest income

141,023

–

(278)

140,745

Interest expense

50,714

–

(2)

50,712

Net interest/gross profit

90,309

–

(276)

90,033

4,339

–

–

4,339

Non-interest income

49,356

26,306

(9,172)

66,490

Non-interest expense

108,455

26,041

(9,138)

125,358

4,204

155

–

4,359

Net income

22,667

110

(310)

22,467

Total assets

3,376,797

5,135

(56,266)

3,325,666

Provision for credit losses

Income taxes

2009
Credit union
services

Real estate
brokerage

Inter company
elimination entries

Total

Interest income

131,141

–

(796)

130,345

Interest expense

58,102

–

(2)

58,100

Net interest/gross profit

73,039

–

(794)

72,245

Provision for credit losses

2,677

–

–

2,677

Non-interest income

53,197

28,966

(8,591)

73,572

Non-interest expense

107,132

28,572

(8,620)

127,084

Income taxes

2,152

–

–

2,152

Net income

14,275

394

(765)

13,904

Total assets

3,173,733

5,407

(44,932)

3,134,208

26. SUBSIDIARIES
The following table presents the name, location of head office, percentage and recorded value of voting shares owned by the
Credit Union of each subsidiary:

Percentage of voting
shares owned by
the Credit Union

Recorded value of
voting shares owned by
the Credit Union (1)

Name

Head office

CENTURY 21 Conexus Realty Ltd.

Regina, Saskatchewan

100%

154

CENTUM Canada Mortgage Direct Ltd.

Regina, Saskatchewan

100%

100

Conexus Insurance Ltd.

Regina, Saskatchewan

100%

100

Protexus Holdings Corp.

Regina, Saskatchewan

100%

4

(1)

In dollars
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27. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.

28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In June 2010, the members of ACE Credit Union Limited (ACE) voted to amalgamate with the Credit Union effective January
1, 2011. The Credit Union’s board of directors approved the amalgamation with ACE. The total equity of ACE represents
approximately 1.32% of the equity of the Credit Union. The amalgamation will be accounted for using the acquisition method.
The purchase price allocation has not been determined.

29. FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES
In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board announced that Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Credit Union is specifically scoped into the definition of a publicly
accountable enterprise. As such, the Credit Union will be required to prepare its December 31, 2011 consolidated financial
statements including comparative information in compliance with IFRS. Due to the requirement for comparative information,
the transition date to IFRS will be January 1, 2010, with both Canadian GAAP and IFRS accounting being tracked in 2010.
In 2008 the Credit Union established an IFRS team which reports to the Audit and Risk Committee of the board of directors on a
regular basis. The IFRS team has developed a detailed workflow plan for all IFRS areas of transition to ensure that each phase of
the transition project is completed on schedule and to ensure a smooth implementation. The Credit Union is also participating
in the national IFRS readiness project for credit unions sponsored by Credit Union Central of Canada. To date the project has
progressed according to plan with major milestones being achieved as required.
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